
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




Meetings of:       COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON  
Date//Time:       Tuesday, October 26, 2021, 7:00 p.m. 
Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to COVID-19.  
  You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone via Zoom: 
 https://zoom.us/j/98649325850?pwd=WmFNYjBycFB4ZFpGRG9yNnZYQzBEUT09 
  Meeting ID: 986 4932 5850 
  Passcode: 859575 
  You may also join by using dial-in number 1 312-626-6799             
 
  The meeting can also be livestreamed on https://wsto.tv/live and Spectrum   
  Channel 981. 
 
Members:          Mayor Tim Swadley, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, Regina Hirsch,   
  Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Lisa Reeves, Brett   
  Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky, and Rachel Venegas 


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM (EIGHT). 
The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend the meeting, please 
notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608) 873-6677 or via email cchristen@ci.stoughton.wi.us  
 


CALL TO ORDER  
 


1. Roll Call 
 


2. Minutes and Reports 
Stoughton Food Pantry (9/09/21); CA CP (9/07/21); Finance (9/14/21); Landmarks (9/9/21); Plan 
Commission (9/13/21); Tree Commission (6/10/21) 
 


3. Public Comment Period: 
• If you would like to speak during public comment period, please fill out the form and 


submit it by 6:30 p.m. on October 26, 2021. http://speak.cityofstoughton.com.  
 


4. Communications and Presentations  
• Landmarks Commission – Historic Preservation Awards 
• Callie LaPoint -marketing/advertising efforts of the Visitor Services Department -


Chamber of Commerce 
 
5. Consent Agenda 


A. October 12, 2021 Council Minutes 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
8.  R-159 -2021 Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division request by Arlin 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA-Amended 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 
regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 


  
 



https://zoom.us/j/98649325850?pwd=WmFNYjBycFB4ZFpGRG9yNnZYQzBEUT09

https://wsto.tv/live

mailto:cchristen@ci.stoughton.wi.us

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





Teigen for property located at 1069 Taylor Lane, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin.  
(Plan Commission recommends approval unanimously on 10/11/21) 
 
9.  R-160-2021 Resolution accepting public improvements - Abel Plat 
 
10.  O-22-2021 Ordinance creating new wards and aldermanic districts.  (First Reading, and the 
Council may suspend the rules and waive the second reading) 
 
11.  R-161-2021 Resolution approving Fair Maps 
 
12.  ***Discussion and possible action regarding the application by RHD properties, LLC for 
Tax Incremental Financing (“TIF”) for the project known as 51 West***   
 
13.  Reconvene in open session 
 
*** The City Council may convene in closed session per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) for the purposes of 
deliberating or negotiating the purchase of public properties, the investing of public funds, or 
conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons deem a closed 
session necessary. The City Council may reconvene in an open session to discuss and take action on the 
subject matter discussed in the closed session*** 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 


 
Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 
aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 
Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Regina Hirsch 


 








Stoughton Food Pantry  


 


Minutes of September 9, 2021 Meeting 


1.  1:00 pm   The meeting was called to order 
2. Attendance: Mike Heger , Linda Lane, Sandy Fleming, Val Macho, Diane Williams  - all 5 board 


members are present 
3. Approval of the Minutes from the May 21, 2021 meeting.  Motion to approve: L Lane, Second: V 


Macho.  All in favor 
4. Welcome to our new board member, Diane Williams.  Special thank you to Diane for 


volunteering to take on this position 
5. Review of Pantry Finances:  The finances remain exceedingly positive with a large cash balance.  


All board members should review the monthly information each month and come in with any 
questions they may have. 


6. Bread distribution to clients.    Putting bread in the freezer/ cooler  takes up space and often 
results in the bread being left in there a very long time.  Additionally there is no way to know 
which bread items have or have not been frozen thus making the package dating of little use.   
From now on all bread and buns will be placed on the hall cart between the doors.  Clients will 
be advised to take what they need.  Volunteers taking orders over the phone will no longer need 
to ask if they want any bread, buns etc.   At the end of the week bread will be discarded by 
giving it to a farmer for livestock. 


7. Thanksgiving and Holiday Vouchers 
a. The amounts will stay the same.  $50 to families with one or more children under 19, 


and $25 for other families for both the Thanksgiving and Holiday Vouchers 
b. To keep track and with families able to come to the pantry 2 times per month, it is 


needed to know who may have already receoved their voucher.  Mike H will modify the 
software to allow the computer user to enter this Special Event.   Once a volunteer hits 
the button he/she will see if the voucher has already been distributed.  If not one need 
to simply click the $25 or $50 button and it will mark that voucher as given to the client. 
Additionally we can run reports to show the total of the vouchers distributed.  Mike will 
prepare specific directions for volunteers. 


c. Linda will take charge of printing up the vouchers which will be printed on colored paper 
to distinguish them 


8. Tasks to be done when there is extra time at the pantry.  Volunteers have expressed boredom 
with fewer clients.   Mike H will create a To Do chart with a list of tasks to be done and a place to 
enter the date when it is done.  Items will include cleaning shelving, cleaning each refrigerator,  
freezer, cooler etc. 


9. Discussion of the current pantry hours was held in response to the thought that with a great 
decline in pantry usage that volunteers have little to do during some shifts.   It was agreed by all 
that the current hours would be continued without change to offer as much flexibility as 







possible to clients.  This linked with the preceding discussion that a To Do List might give 
volunteers a list of tasks that could be done during spare time if they desire to do so. 


10. Allowing some clients to take a second meat of the same item (ie 2 packages of hamburger, etc.)  
After considerable discussion it was decided to allow a 2nd package of hamburger could be given 
to a client requesting this meat only.  All other meats will remain as 1/choice. 


11. Holiday Dates of closure.  Following city hall the pantry will be closed on Thanksgiving Day  and 
the Monday after Christmas  (Nov 25 and Dec 27) .   Other days where the city hall is closed fall 
on days where the pantry is closed.  


12. Sandy prepared a list of jobs and who is the primary and reserve person who does each of those.  
Some discussion occurred and Sandy will have a slightly revised list available to the board 
members and posted in the pantry for volunteers. 


13. Girl Scout Food Drive will occur on Sat. Oct. 16th.    Mike will be with lead person on the drive.  
Mike and his wife Sue and 3 volunteers are needed to take the items and put them on pallets.   
The pallet will be weighed and after all the food is collected approximated 50% will be set aside 
for Methodist Food Pantry to come in and pick up.   Having only a few volunteers will make for a 
much safer situation over the 20 or so people that might typically come in.   Sorting and storing 
of our food will be done that afternoon for a while with the rest done later that week.  Mike will 
contact Methodist Pantry (This is essentially the same procedure as done during the Boy Scout 
drive this spring.  Traditionally the Girls with smaller numbers,   bring in about half of what the 
Boy Scouts have brought it.   Sandy will include this event inhere weekly email  closer to the 
event for any volunteer that is interested. 


14. Due to scheduling conflicts, it was decided that future meetings will be held on the 2nd 
Wednesday of every other month.   Next meeting will be on November 10, 2021 


15. Additional Items of Discussion. 
a. Discussion occurred regarding vaccination status.  Since this was not on the agenda no 


policy could be adopted at this meeting.  A special meeting will be held on Sep 29 at 
2:15 to discuss whether vaccines should be mandatory for all volunteers.  Linda L will 
draft a policy requiring vaccination for all volunteers. 


b. The Stoughton Community Farmer’s Market has contacted Sandy Fleming regarding the 
pantry being a partner with them in providing food – meats, produce etc.   They will be 
invited to a future meeting to present their ideas 


16.  Adjournment :  A motion was made by L Lane and Seconded by V. Macho to adjourn.  All in 
favor.  Meeting adjourned at 2:40pm. 


 


 


 


  







CACP Minutes September 7, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m.  


 
The meeting of the CA/CP will be conducted virtually due to COVID-19.  
You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone: https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/901593469  
You can also dial in using your phone.  
United States: +1 (571) 317-3116 - One-touch: tel:+15713173116,,901593469#  
Access Code: 901-593-469  
 


GoToMeeting Call to Order: Chairperson Heili called the meeting to order 6:03 p.m.  


Present: Heili, Jenson, Ligocki, Venegas, Tilleson and Mayor Swadley  


Absent and excused: Masa-Myers 


Also Present: Sarah Ebert, Dayna Verstegen 


Sustainability Committee update-Alder Venegas reviewed the results of the first meeting 


Listening Session update- Ligocki and Heili summarized the first two Listening Sessions, discussed next 
steps 


Approval of the August 3, 2021 CACP Minutes 


Motion by Venegas, second by Ligocki to approve the minutes from July 6, 2021. Motion carried 6-0. 


R-102-2021 Discussion and possible action regarding Resolution Approving Rules for Virtual 
Meeting 
 
Motion by Venegas, second by Ligocki to add language to council rules. “Committees, boards 
and commissions shall meet at such times and in such locations as they may determine from 
time-to-time, and in the absence of a determination by the full committee, board or 
commission, the chair may determine the times and locations of meetings, in the council 
chambers Motion carried 6-0.  
 
Discussion and possible action on park naming 


Motion by Jenson, second by Ligocki to submit Heritage Park and Carl Sampson Park to the City Council 
for consideration of the West. Washington park name. Motion carried 6-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding the H.A.T.S request. 


Mark Peterson provided the history and nature of the request. Motion by Ligocki, second by Heili to 
accept the recommendation from the Finance Committee and recommend the HATS request be 
approved by the city council. Motion carried 6-0. 


 
Future Agenda Item 


Social Media Policy-limits and consistency of public use 


Diversity, equity and inclusion 


Adjourn: Motion by Jenson, second by Ligocki to adjourn at 7:33 p.m. Motion carried 6-0.  







FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 
Tuesday, September 14, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m.  
GoToMeeting 


Present:  
Schumacher, Reeves, Hirsch, Engelberger, Doom, Neigum (arrived at 6:10 pm), Mayor Swadley 


Absent Excused:  
None 


Also Present:  
Director Friedl, Curt Brink, Attorney Dregne, Utilities Director Weiss 


Call to Order:  
Schumacher called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  


Communications: 


None.  


Reports: 


• None 
 


Approval of the August 24, 2021 Finance Committee Minutes  
Motion by Reeves, second by Engelberger to approve the August 24, 2021 minutes. Motion 
carried 5-0, with Doom abstaining. 


*** Discussion and possible action regarding potential changes to the verbiage in the 
Agreement to Undertake Development between City of Stoughton Redevelopment 
Authority, the City of Stoughton, and Stoughton Riverfront Development, LLC as it relates 
to the Public Improvements definition and the Municipal Revenue Obligation (MRO) *** 


Motion by Engelberger to approve the amended Agreement to Undertake Development and 
move to Council for final approval, second by Reeves. Motion carried 7-0. 
 
Discussion and possible action regarding amending the 2021 TIF No. 8 Riverfront 
Pedestrian Bridge, Trail and Restoration CIP budgets 


Motion by Engelberger to amend to the 2021 TIF No. 8 Riverfront Pedestrian Bridge, Trail and 
Restoration CIP budgets and move to Council for approval, second by Doom. Motion carried 7-
0. 


 
 
 
 







Resolution authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to approve an 
amendment to the 2021 Water Utility capital improvement project funding to relocate 
the existing water main crossing Wisconsin Highway 138 
 
Motion by Engelberger to approve the resolution amending the 2021 Water Utility capital 
improvement project funding to relocate the existing water main crossing at Wisconsin 
Highway 138, second by Reeves. Motion carried 7-0. 
  
Resolution authorizing the future acceptance of Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources Forest Fire Protection Grant funds pending review of the final grant 
agreement terms by the appropriate City staff 
 
Motion by Engelberger authorizing the future acceptance of Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources Forest Fire Protection Grant funds pending review of the final grant agreement 
terms by the appropriate City staff, second by Hirsch. Motion carried 7-0. 
  
Adjournment:  
Motion by Reeves, second by Doom to adjourn at 6:40 p.m. Motion carried 7-0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Jamin Friedl, Finance Director  







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\10-26-2021\Minutes\02d Landmarks Minutes 9-9-21.docx 


Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 
Thursday September 9, 2021 – 6:30 pm 
Virtual 
 
Members Present:  Todd Hubing, Chair; Greg Pigarelli, Vice-Chair; Jean Ligocki, Secretary; 
Kimberly Cook; Kristi Panthofer and Alan Hedstrom 
Staff:  Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 
Absent: Peggy Veregin 
Guests: Doug Deegan and Erica Ruggiero 
 
1. Call to order.  Hubing called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm. 


 
2. Consider approval of the Landmarks Commission meeting minutes of August 12, 2021.   


Motion by Panthofer to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Pigarelli.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 


3. Request by Doug Deegan for Certificate of Appropriateness approval to repair the rear 
porch at the Dragon House, 327 E. Washington Street. 
Hubing introduced the request and stated the project is to replace existing bracing and other 
porch boards with like materials. 
 
Doug Deegan agreed and was available for questions. 
 
Motion by Cook to approve the COA as presented, 2nd by Panthofer.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 


4. Discuss Creation of the Main Street Historic District Design Guidelines. 
Erica Ruggiero stated the intent is to replace the existing guidelines that were created in the 
1990’s.  Erica will be doing field work this weekend in Stoughton and hopes to provide a 
summary at the end of the month.  Erica questioned if the Commission had any ideas about a 
future public meeting. 
 
Ligocki arrived at 6:38 pm 
 
Hubing stated we should wait to discuss a public meeting when Veregin is available.  Cook 
stated Veregin would be the best member to gain input regarding public meetings. 
 
Stacey provided the timeline for the CLG grant which requires the project be completed by the 
end of August of 2022. 
 
Ligocki stated the guidelines will be a wonderful tool to make the Local District more appealing 
to property owners. 
 
Hubing stated the guidelines need to be clear as to what is required. 
 
Stacey questioned what the requirements will be for the non-contributing buildings and will they 
be addressed in the guidelines or the ordinance.  Erica stated the non-contributing buildings and 
vacant sites will have a separate section within the guidelines. 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 
9/9/21 
Page 2 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\10-26-2021\Minutes\02d Landmarks Minutes 9-9-21.docx  


 
Pigarelli stated recent COA requests have been about type of materials such as wood vs vinyl or 
aluminum.  Pigarelli stated new methods and materials could be utilized only after it is 
determined that the old/original materials are non-repairable or replaceable. New materials 
should be a second choice and not the only option. 
 
Hubing stated that maintaining the existing material should be first priority such as a wood 
window.  Erica stated a multi-tiered approach is typically used. 
 
Cook stated the first tier could be preferred materials and the next tier alternative materials. 
 
Erica stated there will be a section on guiding principles to address the types of acceptable 
materials. 
 
Erica stated they try not to use photos from the respective community rather from other 
communities.  Cook suggested historic buildings in Sun Prairie or Oregon.  Ligocki suggested 
Janesville and Hedstrom suggested Evansville for potential photos. 
 


5. CLG Grant 2021.   
Stacey stated a progress report is due by October 15th. 
 
Hubing stated we’ll know what Erica has done by the next meeting. 
 


6. Downtown Local District.   
Erica has the new property survey form formatted and will be doing field work in Stoughton this 
weekend.  Erica also has an appointment at the Public Library and is working to get into the 
Historical Society. 


 
7. Depot Hill Historic District. 


Stacey stated the City received a letter informing us of the creation of the district. 
 
Cook stated Commission and community members can send letters of support to be read by the 
board. 
 


8. Commission Reports/Calendar. 
Hedstrom stated the Preservation Conference is coming up.  Cook stated it will be October 20-
22. 
 
Motion by Hedstrom to approve reimbursement of the $50 fee for all Commission members 
who want to attend, 2nd by Ligocki.  Motion carried 5-0 (Cook abstained) 
 


9. Preservation Award Presentations. 
Ligocki suggested Veregin and Hedstrom present at the Common Council meeting.   
 
Ligocki plans to contact the award recipients about the future presentation. 
 
Hubing is still trying to find a photo of Dave Kalland. 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 
9/9/21 
Page 3 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\10-26-2021\Minutes\02d Landmarks Minutes 9-9-21.docx  


 
 
10. Seeking New Landmarks Members and Discuss Member Criteria. 


Hubing stated he talked to Mayor Swadley about finding new members.  Mayor Swadley 
suggested we seek members through the City website. 
 
The Commission discussed potential criteria such as knowledge of historic preservation as a 
prerequisite. 
 
Hubing plans to contact Mayor Swadley about moving forward with the posting in the City 
website. 
 
Ligocki suggested the Commission seek more than one member in the advertisement. 
 
Hubing plans to draft something for the website and send to Commission members for review. 
 
Ligocki suggested posting on the Landmarks website.  Stacey suggested posting on the 
Landmarks Facebook page.  Panthofer stated she could post to the FB page once the article is 
created. 
 


11. Future agenda items.  None discussed. 
 


12. Adjournment. Motion by Hedstrom to adjourn at 7:30pm, 2nd by Cook.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 


 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Michael P. Stacey 
 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\10-26-2021\Minutes\02e Plan Minutes  9-13-21.docx 


Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Monday, September 13, 2021 at 6:00 pm 
Virtual Meeting 
 
Members Present:  Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Phil Caravello; Al Farrow; Tom Majewski; 
Tom Robinson; and Brett Schumacher, Vice-Chair 
Members Absent: Todd Barman 
Staff:  Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning and Development; Michael Stacey, Zoning 
Administrator 
Press: None 
Guests: Brent Ellifson; Randy Rozema; Colette Spranger; Kathy Rozema; Joanne Grassman; 
Paul Kojo; Mike Conner; Jean Ligocki and Todd Kane. 
 
1. Call to Order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 
2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of August 9, 2021.   


Motion by Robinson to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Majewski.   Motion 
carried unanimously. 
 


3. Council Representative Report.  Mayor Swadley stated the Common Council will be 
reviewing the conditional use request for 210 Water Street tomorrow night. 
 


4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments.  Scheel gave an overview of the current 
status of development as outlined in the packet of materials. 
 


5. Request by Todd Kane, Cummins CES for approval of a site plan for an employee 
shelter and patio area at Cummins, 1801 US Highway 51 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Caravello arrived at 6:04 pm. 
 
Robinson questioned the ADA compliance of the patio area and site.  Todd Kane stated the 
site is ADA compliant. 
 


Motion by Schumacher to approve the resolution as presented, 2nd by Robinson.   
 
Majewski stated the term handicap should not be used rather use disabled instead.  
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


6. Request by Forward Development Group to rezone right of way and open space lands 
within the Replat of the Meadows at Kettle Park West to SR-5 Single Family 
Residential. 
Scheel explained the request. 
 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
09/13/21 
Page 2 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\10-26-2021\Minutes\02e Plan Minutes  9-13-21.docx 


 


No one registered to speak. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend the Common Council approve the rezoning as 
presented, 2nd by Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


7. Request by Forward Development Group for approval of a final plat named 
“Replat of the Meadows”. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Schumacher questioned how the lot sizes changed after the reconfiguration.  Scheel 
stated there were only slight changes to Block 6; there is a reconfiguration of the 
large corner lot to Block 11; there are now a few larger lots due to the elimination of 
the irregular right-of-way to Block 4.  
 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend the Common Council approve the Final Plat as 
presented, 2nd by Farrow.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 
8. Request by Randy Rozema to rezone the property at 2124 Hoel Circle from SR-4 


Single Family Residential to SR-5 Single Family Residential. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Farrow questioned what the addition would be used for.   Randy Rozema stated it is for a 3-
season porch. 


 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
No one registered to speak 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Caravello to recommend the Common Council approve the rezoning as 
presented, 2nd by Farrow.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


9. Request by Joanne Grassman for conditional use permit (CUP) approval to allow an 
Artisan Production Shop use at 501 E. Main Street. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Joanne Grassman explained the proposed use of the building which is planned to be used as 
a maker space and offered to individuals similar to a gym membership. 
 
Schumacher questioned how the membership would work.  Joanne Grassman stated the 
memberships will be monthly, 6 month or professional. 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
09/13/21 
Page 3 of 3 
 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\10-26-2021\Minutes\02e Plan Minutes  9-13-21.docx 


 


Farrow stated parking appears to be a challenge and questioned if the adjacent property 
owner has any issues with the proposed use.  Scheel stated property owners within 300 feet 
of this property were notified of the proposed use and public hearing.  Scheel also noted that 
providing parking within the downtown Central Business District is not a requirement.   


 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
Mike Conner spoke in favor of the use. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Schumacher questioned how this building and the adjacent bar were constructed the way 
they are.  Scheel stated the buildings and parcels are separate. 
 
Jean Ligocki congratulated Joanne Grassman and stated the Landmarks Commission is 
working to gain approval of the Depot Hill Historic District which will provide potential tax 
credits for building improvements. 
 
Motion by Robinson to recommend the Common Council approve the conditional use as 
presented, 2nd by Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


10. Request by Paul Kojo for extra-territorial jurisdictional approval for a land division at 
1442 Lake Kegonsa Road, Town of Rutland. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 
Schumacher questioned if the parcel is being split off from the agricultural lands.  Scheel 
stated that is correct. 


 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend the Common Council approve the extra-territorial 
land division as presented, 2nd by Majewski.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


11. Future agenda items.  Mayor Swadley stated that tomorrow night the Common Council 
will consider giving Committee/Commission Chairs the option to have in person or virtual 
meetings. 


 
Scheel stated there will be more agenda items coming for the 51 West Development. 
 


12. Adjournment. 
Motion by Robinson to adjourn at 6:40 pm, 2nd by Majewski.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Michael P. Stacey 







Tree Commission Meeting Minutes 
Thursday June 10, 2021 @ 5:00 PM 
Virtual Meeting -  Stoughton, WI 
 
Members Present:  Mike Point, Fred Hundt, Jim Fitzgibbon, Dean Tangeman & Kathy Engelberger 


Absent & Excused:  Kevin Short  


Staff:    City Forester John Kemppainen and Admin Asst. Jen Wagner 


Guest:  


Call to order:  Tangeman called to order @ 5:03 PM  


 
1) Communications:  


Kemppainen stated he has been working on sidewalk repairs with Kevin & the DNR this week 
due to root issues. New sidewalks should be in next week 
Kemppainen stated a new member for the commission should be approved for next month by 
Council.  
 


2) Approval of minutes from May 13th, 2021 Meeting:  Motion by Point, seconded by Hundt to approve 
the minutes.  Carried 4-0. 


 
 


3) May Forestry Reports:  Kemppainen stated: 


       
• Spring tree planting was completed. 69 new trees were planted, along with several 


replacement trees under warranty 
• I worked with Brain Wahl from the WIDNR regarding a tree root/sidewalk study that we are 


partnering on in Stoughton 
• The Forestry Intern began work in May. Tyler Drost is a student at UWSP going into his 


sophomore year this fall. He has already proven to be a hard worker 
• The trees for the DNR UF Grant continue to do well in the gravel bed nursery. They are now 


being watered twice daily due to the heat and dry conditions we are experiencing 
• The Lead Service Replacement Project being completed by SU is now ongoing and is 


beginning to require multiple site visits per week to discuss tree issues.  
 


 
4) OLD BUSINESS: Discussion on 2021 DNR Grant – Timeline, forms and report on hours:   


 
• Kemppainen stated all trees plated are still alive and asked for suggestions on how to further more 


get the word out about the free trees available to residents 
• Engelberger suggested putting a message on the digital solar traffic sign that is in front of the Fire 


Department 
• Hundt will mention something at the next Council meeting 
• Engelberger offered to write a letter to the editor to encourage residents to water their trees as 


well as more information about the trees available 
• Kemppainen will be keeping track of everyone’s hours for the Grant now that Bergeson is no 


longer on the Commission 
 
 
5)  NEW BUSINESS: List for Legacy Tree Program:   


 







• Tangeman stated this list is still a work in progress and hopes to be able to update as time goes 
on 
 


 
6) Review Tree Applications:   


 
• Kemppainen stated he has received 6 applications so far. The majority of them have stated 


they would like new trees due to losing trees in the past 
• Any leftover/unused trees need to be planted on private property within the City limits; will 


address where when the time comes 
 
7) Future Agenda Items:   


 
• Elect Chair and co-chair 


 
  Motion by Hundt seconded by Tangeman to adjourn the meeting at 5:35 p.m.  Respectfully submitted 6/11/21, Jen Wagner -     
Staff  





		02a Stoughton Food Pantry minutes

		02b CACP Minutes draft 9-7-21

		02c  04.1-9-14-21 Finance Committee Minutes

		02d Landmarks Minutes 9-9-21

		Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes



		02e Plan Minutes  9-13-21

		Plan Commission Meeting Minutes Monday, September 13, 2021 at 6:00 pm Virtual Meeting



		02f TC Min June 10 2021






Meeting of: MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STOUGHTON 


Date//Time: Tuesday, October12, 2021 @ 7:00 p.m. The GoToMeeting line will be open at 
6:50 p.m. so everyone can get connected. No business will be conducted until 
7:00 p.m. 


Location:  The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to   
   COVID-19.  You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone 
   via Zoom:     
 https://zoom.us/j/93876947965?pwd=UDdDYzIvUDRrdHEzL0w5ZU1ETkx6UT09 
   Meeting ID: 938 7694 7965 
   Passcode: 407086 


The meeting can also be livestreamed on https://wsto.tv/live and 
Spectrum Channel 981. 
 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, Regina Hirsch, 
Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski,, Lisa Reeves, Brett 
Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky, and Rachel Venegas  


 


CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 7:27 p.m.  


 
Roll Call:  
City Clerk Christen called roll and noted there were 11 alders present. Tom Majewski was absent and 
excused. 
Minutes and Reports: 
Food Pantry (9/09/21); Finance (9/14/21); CACP (9/07//21) 
Public Comment Period: 


•  None 
Communications and Presentations  


• Redistricting update – Clerk Christen gave a brief timeline and Attorney Poland presented 
information: 


• Goal is population of 600 to 2100 inhabitants per ward per LRB 
• Delayed census results means less time for local redistricting 
• Generally the County and municipality each have 60 days for map creation and approval  
• County map to be approved 10/14/21 and the municpality must have approved map with 


resolution/ordinance back to the County by 11/5/21 
 
Consent Agenda 


A. September 28, 2021 Council Minutes 
B. R-154-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue Operator Licenses to 


various applicants. 
Motion by Reeves, second by Hundt to approve the consent agenda. Motion carried 11-0. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 


  


  
 



https://zoom.us/j/93876947965?pwd=UDdDYzIvUDRrdHEzL0w5ZU1ETkx6UT09

https://wsto.tv/live





O-20-2021 Request by Forward Development Group to rezone right of way and open space 
lands within the Replat of the Meadows at Kettle Park West to SR-5 Single Family Residential.  
 
Motion by Caravello, second by Doom to approve O-20-2021 Request by Forward Development 
Group to rezone right of way and open space lands within the Replat of the Meadows at Kettle 
Park West to SR-5 Single Family Residential.  Motion carried 11-0 
 
O-21-2021  Request by Randy Rozema to rezone the property at 2124 Hoel Circle from SR-
4Single Family Residential to SR-5 Single Family Residential.  


Motion by Caravello, second by HUNDT to approve O-21-2021 Request by Randy Rozema to 
rezone the property at 2124 Hoel Circle from SR-4Single Family Residential to SR-5 Single 
Family Residential.  Motion carried 11-0. 
 


NEW BUSINESS 
 
R-155 -2021  Resolution requesting Exemption from County Library Tax  
Motion by Ligocki, second by Schumacher to approve R-155-2021 Resolution requesting Exemption 
from County Library Tax.  Motion carried 11-0. 
 
R-156-2021  Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve the 2022 Quartz 
Renewal at a 5% increase and Delta Dental with a flat renewal.  


Motion by Reeves, second by Hundt to approve R-156-2021 Authorizing and directing the 
proper city official(s) to approve the 2022 Quartz Renewal at a 5% increase and Delta Dental 
with a flat renewal. Motion carried 11-0. 


R-157-2021  Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve the updated position 
Description for the Police Offer which includes the addition of City Sponsored Police Academy. 
 
Motion by Reeves, second by Schumacher to approve R-157-2021 Authorizing and directing the proper 
city official(s) to approve the updated position 
Description for the Police Offer which includes the addition of City Sponsored Police Academy. 
Motion carried 11-0. 
 
R-158-2021  Resolution authorizing City official(s) to utilize $45,000 in Building Maintenance Funds 
and $20,000 in Contingency Funds to fund the emergency replacement of two boilers at the Senior 
Center 
 
Motion by Schumacher, second by Reeves to approve R-158-2021 Resolution authorizing City 
official(s) to utilize $45,000 in Building Maintenance Funds and $20,000 in Contingency Funds to fund 
the emergency replacement of two boilers at the Senior Center.  Motion carried 11-0. 
 
Motion by Schumacher to go into closed session at 8:26 p.m., second by Jenson.   
 
Motion to reconvene in open session by Jenson at 9:25 p.m., second by Doom.  Motion approved 
11-0. 







ADJOURNMENT  
Motion by Jenson to adjourn, second by Reeves.  Motion carried 11-0.  9:26 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Candee Christen 
City Clerk 
 
 


 








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
 
Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division request by Arlin Teigen for property 
located at 1069 Taylor Lane, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends Council approval 5  - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
None  


File Number: 
 
R -159 - 2021 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
October 26, 2021 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 
 
WHEREAS, this land division request is proposed to add 2.709 acres to the existing 1.211 acres at 1069 
Taylor Lane for a total of 3.92 acres in the Town of Dunkirk; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Comprehensive Plan is used as a guide for the general pattern of development as 
determined by the Plan Commission and Common Council. This property is within the City’s Extraterritorial 
Jurisdiction (ETJ) and is deemed Planned Neighborhood on the Future Land Use Map; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed lot does not comply with the maximum 2.5-acre requirement of the City land 
division ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, where the plan commission finds that extraordinary hardships or practical difficulties 
may result from strict compliance with these regulations and/or that the purposes of these regulations 
may be served to a greater extent by an alternative proposal such as a traditional neighborhood 
development, it may approve exceptions and waivers of conditions to these regulations so that 
substantial justice may be done and the public interest secured. The exception or waiver shall not have 
the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of these regulations. Exceptions or waivers to 
preliminary plat submittal requirements may be approved by the city. The city shall not approve 
exceptions or waivers unless it shall make findings based upon the evidence presented to it in each 
specific case that all of the following conditions are met by the applicant:  


(1) The granting of the exception or waiver conditions will not be detrimental to the public safety, 
health, or welfare or injurious to other property;  


(2) The conditions upon which the request is based are unique to the property for which the relief 
is sought and are not applicable generally to other property except as allowed through planned 
unit development, cluster development or traditional neighborhood development;  


(3) Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the 
specific property involved, a particular hardship to the owner would result, as distinguished 
from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of these regulations is carried out;  
 


(4) The relief sought will not in any manner vary the provisions of the comprehensive plan, 
zoning ordinance, or official map, except that those documents may be amended in the 
manner prescribed by law;  







(5) In approving exceptions or waivers of conditions, the plan commission may require such 
conditions so as to carry out the purpose and intent of this chapter described in section 66-
102. 


 
WHEREAS, on October 11, 2021 the Stoughton Plan Commission reviewed the land division request and 
recommends Common Council approval as presented; now therefore 
  
BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the extra-territorial jurisdictional land 
division request by Arlin Teigen for property located at 1069 Taylor Lane, Town of Dunkirk, is hereby 
approved with a waiver as presented contingent on Town of Dunkirk and Dane County approval. 
 
 
 
 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       
  
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
 
                                                     
Tim Swadley, Mayor       Date 


 
Council Action:           Override  Vote       
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\Teigen - 1069 Taylor Lane ETJ Land Division.doc 



https://library.municode.com/wi/stoughton/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MUCO_CH66LADIOR_ARTIGEPR_S66-102PUIN

https://library.municode.com/wi/stoughton/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MUCO_CH66LADIOR_ARTIGEPR_S66-102PUIN






T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\101121\PC Info\Teigen CSM ETJ Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
Date:  October 5, 2021 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council    
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the October 11, 2021 Plan Commission Meeting and  


October 26, 2021 Common Council Meeting. 
 


 
Request by Arlin Teigen for an extra-territorial jurisdictional land division approval (CSM) 
for property located at 1069 Taylor Lane, Town of Dunkirk. 
This property is within the City of Stoughton’s 1.5 mile extra-territorial jurisdiction and is in the 
City’s Urban Growth area as identified on the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map.  This 
request is to add additional acres to the existing residential Town land at 1069 Taylor Lane.  (Land 
Swap) 
 
A waiver is necessary and is outlined in the resolution since the property is over the required 
maximum of 2.5 acres. 
 
Any approval should be contingent on Town of Rutland and Dane County approval.  The resolution, 
CSM and related materials are provided.  A recommendation to Council is necessary. 
  
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/









REV 01/01/2019 


 


Dane County Planning & Development 
Division of Zoning 


 
 
 


 


Land Division Application 
In order for applications to be processed, all information, survey drawings, application signatures 


and fees required must be submitted at time of application.  Please check the appropriate box 


below for the type of application being submitted: 
 


Preliminary Certified Survey Map  Certified Survey Map-$265/LOT 


Subdivision Preliminary Plat*-$600  Subdivision Final Plat-$265/LOT 


 
   *As per DCCO Ch. 75 - Prior to filing an application for approval of a preliminary plat, the subdivider 


shall consult with staff of the committee for advice, assistance and for the purpose of reviewing the 


procedures and requirements of Chapter 75 and other ordinances, plans or data which may affect the 


proposed development. 


 


 


1. Is proposed land division associated with a rezone petition?   


Yes No   ETZ   If Yes, Petition # _______________________ 


2. Does the property abut or adjoin a County or State Trunk Highway?  


Yes No   If Yes, Highway Name: _________________________ 


3. Will public sewer serve the land division? Yes No  


4.   Does the subdivision have significant features like shoreland, wetland and/or floodplain?  Yes No   


   If Yes, describe features :_________________________________________________________________ 
 


 


Property Owner Information Surveyor Information 


Name 
 


Address 
  


Phone Number 
 


E-Mail Address 
 


Property/Location Information  (accessdane.co.dane.wi.us) 


Township Section ¼ ________ ¼ ¼ ________ Acreage 


Parcel Number(s) 


Current Zoning Proposed Zoning 


CSM Lot Subdivision Block/Lot 


Application ID#:   
 


Process Date: 
 


OFFICE USE ONLY 


Print Name: ________________________________________________ Date: ___________________ 
 
Signature: __________________________________________________________________________ 
 


x


Arlin O. Teigen


1069 TAYLOR LN, STOUGHTON WI 53589


Timothy G. Radl


313 Waverly Pl, Madison, WI 53705


(608) 233-3142


Dunkirk 8
SW SE


4.31


026/0511-084-9685-2  ,   026/0511-084-9651-2


RR1, AT35


x


x


x


No.


11719


RR-4


timradl2959@gmail.com



T-Bot

Highlight







Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO,
USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance
Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), (c) OpenStreetMap
contributors, and the GIS User Community


Teigen Land Division


Dane County Mask
Dane County Mask
Parcels


October 5, 2021 0 380 760190 Feet


¯


TEIGEN







 
210 Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd.  City-County Bldg, Room 116  Madison, WI 53703-3342  Phone: 608.266.9106  Fax: 608.267.1540 


Dane County Planning & Development 
Land Division Review 


 
 
 
 
 


 
 
Attention to whom it may concern: 
 
Re: Certified Survey Map application # 10557 
 
 
Dane County Planning & Development is in receipt of a proposed certified survey map 
application.  Attached with this letter is a copy of the survey map.   
 
Please review the proposal and comment at your earlier convenience such that the Dane County 
staff will recognize your position and concerns in acting in this matter. 
 
Reviewing Agency: 
 
• Town of Dunkirk 
• City of Stoughton (extraterritorial jurisdiction) 
• Public Health – John Hausbeck 
• Dane County Surveyor – Dan Frick 
 
 
 
If you have any comments regarding this proposal please forward them to me in a timely 
manner. 
 
 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Dan Everson 
Assistant Zoning Administrator 
608.267.1541 
 
 







Aaker Road S 89°49'06" E
412.77'


N
 
0
°
1
2
'
4
4
"
 
E


1
9
8
.
1
3
'


N


 


5


8


°


0


3


'


1


5


"


 


E


1


7


2


.


6


0


'


N


 


3


1


°


4


3


'


1


2


"


 


W


1


0


4


.


4


4


'


S 88°38'27" W


290.75'


N


 


3


0


°


4


3


'


0


4


"


 


W


1


5


0


.


0


0


'


S


 
8


0


°
5


4


'4


7


"
 
W


1


3


7


.
9


6


'


S
 
0
°
1
0
'
5
5
"
 
W


4
7
7
.
2
5
'


Taylor  Lane


Lot   1


Certified Survey Map No.


313 Waverly Pl. Madison, WI  (608)233-3142  redoakls.com


Red Oak Land Surveying LLC



AutoCAD SHX Text

S 1/4 Cor.  Section 8  Found Alum. Monument.



AutoCAD SHX Text

South line of the SW 1/4 of Section 8



AutoCAD SHX Text

SE Cor. Sec. 8  Corner In River  Location  From Ties



AutoCAD SHX Text

Certified Survey  Survey Survey  Map # 8633Map # 8633 # 86338633



AutoCAD SHX Text

Lot 1 11



AutoCAD SHX Text

Lands



AutoCAD SHX Text

Lands



AutoCAD SHX Text

Parcel A AA



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAWN



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

APPROVED



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE



AutoCAD SHX Text

SHEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROJECT NO.



AutoCAD SHX Text

2021060



AutoCAD SHX Text

TGR



AutoCAD SHX Text

8/23/2021



AutoCAD SHX Text

TGR



AutoCAD SHX Text

8/27/2021



AutoCAD SHX Text

1"=100'



AutoCAD SHX Text

1 of 5



AutoCAD SHX Text

Lands



AutoCAD SHX Text

2245.06'



AutoCAD SHX Text

S 89°49'06" E



AutoCAD SHX Text

412.77'



AutoCAD SHX Text

165.13'



AutoCAD SHX Text

139.60'



AutoCAD SHX Text

123.90'



AutoCAD SHX Text

252.51'



AutoCAD SHX Text

L1



AutoCAD SHX Text

LINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

BEARING



AutoCAD SHX Text

DISTANCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

L1



AutoCAD SHX Text

S 00°10'55" W



AutoCAD SHX Text

33.00'



AutoCAD SHX Text

L2



AutoCAD SHX Text

L2



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 26°28'37" W



AutoCAD SHX Text

36.93'



AutoCAD SHX Text

L3



AutoCAD SHX Text

L3



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 00°10'55" E



AutoCAD SHX Text

33.00'



AutoCAD SHX Text

L4



AutoCAD SHX Text

L4



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 89°49'09" W



AutoCAD SHX Text

13.43'



AutoCAD SHX Text

L5



AutoCAD SHX Text

L5



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 58°16'48" E



AutoCAD SHX Text

33.00'



AutoCAD SHX Text

L6



AutoCAD SHX Text

L6



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 88°38'27" E



AutoCAD SHX Text

38.24'



AutoCAD SHX Text

L7



AutoCAD SHX Text

L7



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 89°49'05" W



AutoCAD SHX Text

30.00'



AutoCAD SHX Text

191,681 Sq.Ft. or  4.40 Acres Incl. R/W



AutoCAD SHX Text

174,292 Sq.Ft. or  4.00 Acres Excl. R/W



AutoCAD SHX Text

66' ' 33' 33'' 33'33''



AutoCAD SHX Text

66' ' 33' 33'' 33'33''



AutoCAD SHX Text

Well Septic M.H. Denotes Concrete Surface 3/4" Rebar Found Corner Monument Found 1" Inside Dia. Iron Pipe Found Mag Nail Driven In Asphalt 3/4"x18" Steel Stake Driven



AutoCAD SHX Text

Legend



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

100



AutoCAD SHX Text

200



AutoCAD SHX Text

382.77'



AutoCAD SHX Text

S 26°28'41" E



AutoCAD SHX Text

377.95'



AutoCAD SHX Text

399.34'



AutoCAD SHX Text

North-South 1/4 Line Section 8



AutoCAD SHX Text

North, as referenced to the  Wisconsin County Coordinate  System, Zone: Dane



AutoCAD SHX Text

Lands



AutoCAD SHX Text

______



AutoCAD SHX Text

Part of the SW 1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 8, T5N, R11E, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin



AutoCAD SHX Text

Timothy G. Radl  S-2959 Professional Land Surveyor



AutoCAD SHX Text

Notes: Fieldwork performed August 28, 2021. Building offsets measured to siding. Refer to building site information contained in the Dane County  Soil Survey. Previously recorded dimensions enclosed in parenthesis. Wetlands or flood zones, if present, have not been delineated. This survey subject to all agreements and easements recorded  and unrecorded.



AutoCAD SHX Text

Prepared for: ROB HOSTRAWSER 3092 LINNERUD DR STOUGHTON WI 53589



AutoCAD SHX Text

Document #________________ C.S.M. #________ V.___ p.___



AutoCAD SHX Text

66.4'



AutoCAD SHX Text

26.5'



AutoCAD SHX Text

62.2'



AutoCAD SHX Text

30.0'



AutoCAD SHX Text

52.2'



AutoCAD SHX Text

14.2'



AutoCAD SHX Text

50.0'



AutoCAD SHX Text

12.3'



AutoCAD SHX Text

72.8'



AutoCAD SHX Text

House



AutoCAD SHX Text

Garage



AutoCAD SHX Text

Lean-to



AutoCAD SHX Text

12'x8.5' Shed



AutoCAD SHX Text

Septic



AutoCAD SHX Text

65' wide Powerline Easement  as per Doc.# 1911070



AutoCAD SHX Text

Deck



AutoCAD SHX Text

Gravel



AutoCAD SHX Text

C.



AutoCAD SHX Text

C.



AutoCAD SHX Text

82.63'



AutoCAD SHX Text

444.25'



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N 00°28'29" E)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(N 58°19'47" E)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(198.72')



AutoCAD SHX Text

(172.15')



AutoCAD SHX Text

(S 88°50'44" W)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(290.71')



AutoCAD SHX Text

(378.34')



AutoCAD SHX Text

(S 26°18'11" E)







Certified Survey Map No.



AutoCAD SHX Text

Approved for recording per Dane County  Zoning and land Regulation Committee  action of ____________________,                                               by _________________________, Title:________________________.



AutoCAD SHX Text

Register of Deeds: Received for recording this ________ day of ______________________, 2021, at ________ o'clock ___.M. and recorded  in Volume ________ of Dane County  Certified Surveys on pages ________  through ________. ________________________________ Kristi Chlebowski Register of Deeds Document No._______________________ Certified Survey Map No._______________



AutoCAD SHX Text

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE I, Timothy G. Radl, Professional Land Surveyor, hereby certify: That I have surveyed, divided, and mapped Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map #8633, along with a part part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 8, T5N, R11E, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin, more fully described as follows:  Commencing at the South 1/4 corner of said Section 8; thence along the South line of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section 8  S 89°49'06" E 82.63 feet to the point of beginning of this description; thence continuing S 89°49'06" E 412.77 feet to the Southeasterly corner of Lot 1 of Certified Survey  Map # 8633; thence along the Easterly line of said Lot 1 N 00°12'44" E 198.13 feet to a corner of said Lot 1; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 N 58°03'15" E 172.60 feet to the centerline of Taylor Lane, being also the Southwesterly corner of said Lot 1; thence along said centerline N 31°43'12" W 104.44 feet to the Northeasterly corner of said Lot 1; thence along the Northerly line of said Lot 1 S 88°38'27" W 290.75 feet to the Northwesterly corner of said Lot 1; thence along the Westerly line of a parcel described in Document # 4185685 N 30°43'04" W 150.00 feet to the Northwesterly corner of said described parcel; thence S 80°54'47" W 137.96 feet; thence S 00°10'55" W 477.25 feet to the South line of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section 8 being also the point of beginning. Described parcel contains 191,681 square feet or 4.40 acres. Described parcel subject to roadway right of way over the Southerly and Easterly 33 feet thereof. Described parcel subject to a powerline easement as described in Document# 1911070. That such map is a correct representation of the exterior boundary of the land surveyed and the division thereof. That I have fully complied with the provisions of s. 236.34, Wisconsin Statutes and the land division ordinance of the Town of Dunkirk, and Dane County in surveying, dividing, and mapping the same.



AutoCAD SHX Text

______



AutoCAD SHX Text

Part of the SW 1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 8, T5N, R11E, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project #2021060   Sheet 2 of 5 Document #________________ C.S.M. #________ V.___ p.___



AutoCAD SHX Text

Timothy G. Radl  S-2959 Professional Land Surveyor







Certified Survey Map No.



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project #2021060   Sheet 3 of 5 Document #________________ C.S.M. #________ V.___ p.___



AutoCAD SHX Text

______



AutoCAD SHX Text

Part of the SW 1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 8, T5N, R11E, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin



AutoCAD SHX Text

Timothy G. Radl  S-2959 Professional Land Surveyor



AutoCAD SHX Text

Town Board Resolution Resolved, that this Certified Survey Map is hereby approved by the Town of Dunkirk on this _______ day of ____________, 2021. Signed:____________________________, Town Clerk: ________________________ 



AutoCAD SHX Text

Owner's Certificate As owner I certify that I caused the land described on this certified survey map to be surveyed,  divided, and mapped as represented on this certified survey map. I also certify that this Certified  Survey Map is required by sec. 75.17(1)(a), Dane County Code of Ordinances, to be submitted to the  Dane County Zoning and Land Regulation Committee. WITNESS the hand and seal of said owners this           day of                      , 2021.           day of                      , 2021.  day of                      , 2021.                      , 2021. , 2021.                                                          Arlin O. Teigen                              (STATE OF WISCONSIN  DANE COUNTY) SS Personally came before me this                 day of                           , 2021,                 day of                           , 2021,  day of                           , 2021,                           , 2021, , 2021, the above named                                   to me known to be the persons who                                    to me known to be the persons who   to me known to be the persons who  executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. Signed:                                      ,                                       , , Name:                                       ,                                        , , Notary Public,                        , Wisconsin.                        , Wisconsin. , Wisconsin. My commission expires                          .                         ..







Certified Survey Map No.



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project #2021060   Sheet 4 of 5 Document #________________ C.S.M. #________ V.___ p.___



AutoCAD SHX Text

______



AutoCAD SHX Text

Part of the SW 1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 8, T5N, R11E, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin



AutoCAD SHX Text

Timothy G. Radl  S-2959 Professional Land Surveyor



AutoCAD SHX Text

ROB REAL ESTATE BROKERAGE & BUILDERS LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Wisconsin, as owner, certifies that said limited liability company caused the lands described on this map to be surveyed, divided, mapped and dedicated as represented on this map in accordance with requirements of the Ordinances of the Town of Dunkirk and the County of Dane. ROB REAL ESTATE BROKERAGE & BUILDERS LLC, as owner, does further certify that this map is required by sec. 75.17(1)(a), Dane County Code of Ordinances, to be submitted to the  Dane County Zoning and Land Regulation Committee. lN Witness Whereof, ROB REAL ESTATE BROKERAGE & BUILDERS LLC, has caused these presents to be signed by ROB REAL ESTATE BROKERAGE & BUILDERS LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company,  this                    day of                             ,2021                    day of                             ,2021  day of                             ,2021                              ,2021  ,2021 ROB REAL ESTATE BROKERAGE & BUILDERS LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company Signed:                                      ,                                       , , Name:                                       ,                                        , , Title:                                        ,                                         , , Name: Its:                           (STATE OF WISCONSIN  DANE COUNTY) SS Personally came before me this                 day of                           ,                 day of                           ,  day of                           ,                           , , 2021, the above named                                   to me known to be the persons                                   to me known to be the persons  to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. Signed:                                      ,                                       , , Name:                                       ,                                        , , Notary Public,                        , Wisconsin.                        , Wisconsin. , Wisconsin. My commission expires                          .                         ..







Certified Survey Map No.


313 Waverly Pl. Madison, WI  (608)233-3142  redoakls.com


Red Oak Land Surveying LLC



AutoCAD SHX Text

Consent of Mortgagee One Community Bank, a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the  State of Wisconsin, mortgagee of the above described land, does hereby consent to the surveying,  dividing, and mapping of the land described on this Certified Survey Map, and does hereby consent to  the above owners certificate. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said One Community Bank has caused these presents to be signed by it's  authorized representative listed below at ________________, Wisconsin, and its seal to be hereunto  affixed this _________ day of ________________, 2021. One Community Bank Signed:________________________ Name:________________________ (STATE OF WISCONSIN  DANE COUNTY) SS Personally came before me this _________ day of __________________, 2021, the above  named _____________________, to me known to be the _____________________ of the  above named corporation, who executed the foregoing instrument and to me known to be such officer  of the above named corporation, and acknowledge that they executed the foregoing instrument as such  officer as the deed of said corporation, by it's authority. Signed:_____________________________ Name:______________________________ Notary Public, ________________, Wisconsin. My commission expires _________________.



AutoCAD SHX Text

Document #________________ C.S.M. #________ V.___ p.___



AutoCAD SHX Text

______



AutoCAD SHX Text

Part of the SW 1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 8, T5N, R11E, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin



AutoCAD SHX Text

Timothy G. Radl  S-2959 Professional Land Surveyor



AutoCAD SHX Text

DRAWN



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

APPROVED



AutoCAD SHX Text

DATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE



AutoCAD SHX Text

SHEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROJECT NO.



AutoCAD SHX Text

2021060



AutoCAD SHX Text

TGR



AutoCAD SHX Text

8/23/2021



AutoCAD SHX Text

TGR



AutoCAD SHX Text

8/27/2021



AutoCAD SHX Text

1"=100'



AutoCAD SHX Text

5 of 5



AutoCAD SHX Text

Prepared for: ROB HOSTRAWSER 3092 LINNERUD DR STOUGHTON WI 53589







T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2021\Plan Com Minutes  10-11-21.docx 


Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Monday, October 11, 2021 at 6:00 pm 
Virtual Meeting 
 
Members Present:  Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Phil Caravello; Todd Barman; Tom Majewski; 
and Tom Robinson 
Members Absent: Brett Schumacher, Vice-Chair and Al Farrow 
Staff:  Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning and Development; Michael Stacey, Zoning 
Administrator 
Press: None 
Guests: Rob Hostrawser; Trisha Brown; Colette Spranger  
 
1. Call to Order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 
2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of September 13, 2021.   


Motion by Majewski to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Caravello.   Motion carried 
4-0 (Barman abstained). 
 


3. Council Representative Report. 
Caravello stated the Common Council had first readings for Ordinance 20 and 21 and 
approved Resolutions 148, 149 and 150. 
 


4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments. 
Scheel gave an overview of the status of current developments as outlined in the packet. 


 
Mayor Swadley stated several downtown properties are under new ownership and he 
anticipates future requests coming for those new uses. 
 


5. Request by Arlin Teigen for extra-territorial land division approval at 1069 Taylor 
Lane, Town of Dunkirk. 
Scheel gave an overview of the request. 


 
Barman questioned the need for hardship related to the 2.5 acre limit.  
 
Rob Hostrawser stated this is related to a land swap where he is trading these acres for some 
land in the City on Isham Street.  Hostrawser stated it could be viewed as honoring the 
Teigen family who were the original owners and the added acres squares off the land area to 
aid in future development. 
 
Majewski stated the land does not square off along the north property line.  Scheel stated the 
CSM shows the land square with the adjacent property and the colored map shown was 
provided by Dane County. 


 
Motion by Caravello to recommend the Common Council approve the land division request 
as presented, 2nd by Robinson.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 



mstacey

Highlight





		ADPF56F.tmp

		Attention to whom it may concern:

		Re: Certified Survey Map application # 10557

		Reviewing Agency:

		Dane County Planning & Development

		Land Division Review





		Teigen CSM Page 1.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		Model





		Teigen CSM Page 2.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		Model





		Teigen CSM Page 3.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		Model





		Teigen CSM Page 4.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		Model





		Teigen CSM Page 5.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		Model





		ADPF316.tmp

		Plan Commission Meeting Minutes Monday, October 11, 2021 at 6:00 pm Virtual Meeting












 
City of Stoughton, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 
 
Acceptance of On-site Public Improvements made by Habitat for Humanity Dane County, Inc., 


for Abel Plat 
 
Committee Action: 


 
   


Fiscal Impact: None 
 
File Number: 


 
R-160-2021 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
October 26, 2021 


 
 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the AGREEMENT TO UNDERTAKE DEVELOPMENT IN THE PLAT OF 
ABEL PLAT (the “Agreement”), Habitat for Humanity Dane County, Inc., the “Developer”) is required 
to construct certain Public Improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Agreement requires Developer to submit the following prior to acceptance of Public 
Improvements: 
 


• A written request by the Developer desiring the City to inspect the Public Improvements, and 
• Valid lien waivers from all persons providing materials or performing work on the improvements 


for which certification is sought, and  
• Provide as-built drawings to the City consisting of four hard copies on paper, one electronic copy 


as a pdf file, and one electronic copy in dwg format or other digital format that is acceptable to the 
City, and 


• Provide a complete cost breakdown of all construction, engineering and administrative costs for 
the water main and respective service laterals, and 


• Provide a bacteriologically safe water sample is obtained and tested by a certified agency, with the 
report from such agency confirming such testing, and 


• Provide a statement from the City Finance Director that all outstanding City costs, including 
engineering and inspection charges, have been paid in full, and  


 
WHEREAS, Developer has requested that the City accept Public Improvements defined in the 
Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Planning Director’s designees have inspected the Public Improvements and found 
them to be acceptable and ready for acceptance pursuant to the Agreement.  The City Planning Director 
has determined that the Public Improvements, excepting street trees, were substantially complete not later 
than June 22, 2021, and that no defects have been found to exist with respect to the Public Improvements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that Public 
Improvements are accepted pursuant to the Agreement, that the one-year warranty period will end one 
year from the adoption date of this resolution, and the construction letter of credit provided by Developer 
may be released. 
 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     
 
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
 
 
                                             
Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 
 


 
 
Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 
 


 
 
S:\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\Resolution accepting public improvements - Abel Plat.docx 








CITY OF STOUGHTON    RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF      DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 
 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 


 
 
 
Date:  September 21, 2021 
 
To:  Public Works Committee  
 
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
Subject: Abel Plat Public Improvements 
 
Habitat for Humanity Dane County, Inc. installed the street and utilities for this plat in 2021.  
The Public Improvements for Abel Plat are now complete and ready for acceptance.  Acceptance 
of the public improvements allows the City to release the letter of credit.  A resolution is 
provided and recommended for your consideration.   
 


If you have any questions, please contact me. 
 


 
S:\Planning\RJS\Committees\Public Works Committee Abel Plat Public Improvements-final acceptance.docx 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 
 
The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


Section 1.  Sec. 2-3 of the Stoughton Municipal Code is amended to provide as 
follows: 


 Sec. 2-3. – Ward boundaries. 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 5.15(1), the City of Stoughton is divided into eight wards as 
described on the following map, to be construed in accordance with the conventions 
in Wis. Stat. Sec. 4.003: 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON 
COUNCIL 


Amending City Ordinance Chapter 2, Article I, Secs. 2-3 and  
2-4 of the Stoughton Municipal Code relating to wards and 


aldermanic districts 
 
Committee  
Action: 


 
 


Fiscal Impact: None    


File Number: O-22-2021 First Reading:       
Second Reading: 


October 26, 2021 


 







Section 2.  Sec. 2-3 of the Stoughton Municipal Code is amended to provide as 
follows: 


 Sec. 2-3. – Aldermanic District. 


  Aldermanic Districts are established as follows: 


(1) First aldermanic district:  Wards 1 & 2; polling location 1st Lutheran 
Church, 310 East Washington Street, Stoughton 


(2) Second aldermanic district:  Wards 3 & 4; polling location Stoughton 
Fire Department, 401 East Main Street, Stoughton 


(3) Third aldermanic district:  Wards 5 & 6; polling location United 
Methodist Church, 525 Lincoln Avenue, Stoughton 


(4) Fourth aldermanic district:  Wards 7 & 8; polling location Lakeview 
Church, 2200 Lincoln Avenue, Stoughton 


Section 3.  A list of the block numbers used by the U.S. Bureau of the census that are 
wholly or partly contained within each ward created by Section 1 of this ordinance is 
attached as Exhibit 1, attached to this ordinance.  


 
Section 4.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 


date of publication. 


Council Adopted:   
 


Mayor Approved:       
Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:   
 


Attest:      
Candee Christen, City Clerk 


 
 
 
 
 
 







District 1  Census blocks   
550250120023027.00 1  
550250120023029.00 1  
550250120023037.00 1  
550250122011027.00 2  
550250122011028.00 2  
550250122011042.00 1  
550250122011043.00 1  
550250122011044.00 1  
550250122011046.00 2  
550250122011047.00 2  
550250122011048.00 2  
550250122011049.00 2  
550250122011050.00 2  
550250122011051.00 2  
550250122011052.00 2  
550250122011053.00 2  
550250122011054.00 2  
550250122011055.00 2  
550250122011056.00 2  
550250122011059.00 2  
550250122011062.00 2  
550250122011064.00 2  
550250122011066.00 2  
550250122021000.00 1  
550250122021002.00 1  
550250122021012.00 1  
550250122021013.00 1  
550250122021014.00 1  
550250122021015.00 1  
550250122021016.00 1  
550250122021017.00 1  
550250122021018.00 1  
550250122021019.00 1  
550250122021020.00 1  
550250122021021.00 1  
550250122021022.00 1  
550250122021023.00 1  
550250122021024.00 1  
550250122021030.00 1  
550250122021031.00 1  
550250122021033.00 2  
550250122021037.00 2  
550250122021038.00 2  
550250122022000.00 1  
550250122022001.00 1  
550250122022002.00 1  
550250122022003.00 1  







550250122022004.00 1  
550250122022005.00 1  
550250122022006.00 2  
550250122022007.00 2  
550250122022008.00 2  
550250122022009.00 2  
550250122022010.00 2  
550250122022011.00 2  
550250122022012.00 2  
550250122022013.00 2  
550250122022014.00 2  
550250122022015.00 2  
550250122022016.00 2  
550250122022017.00 2  
550250122022018.00 2  
550250122022019.00 2  
550250122022020.00 2  
550250122023000.00 2  
550250122023001.00 2  
550250122023002.00 2  
550250122023003.00 2  
550250122023004.00 2  
550250122023005.00 2  
550250122023006.00 2  
550250122023007.00 2  
550250122023008.00 2  
550250122023009.00 2  
550250122023010.00 2  
550250122023012.00 2  
550250122023013.00 2  
550250122023014.00 2  
550250122025000.00 2  
550250122025001.00 2  


550250120023015_01 2  
550250120023015_02 2  
550250120023015_03 2  
550250120023016_01 2  
550250120023011_01 2  
550250124002013_01 1  
   


 







District 2 Census Blocks   
550250120023012.00 3  
550250120023023.00 3  
550250122011002.00 3  
550250122011003.00 3  
550250122011004.00 3  
550250122011005.00 3  
550250122011006.00 3  
550250122011007.00 3  
550250122011008.00 3  
550250122011009.00 3  
550250122011014.00 3  
550250122011016.00 3  
550250122011017.00 3  
550250122011018.00 3  
550250122011019.00 3  
550250122011020.00 3  
550250122011021.00 3  
550250122011022.00 3  
550250122011023.00 3  
550250122011024.00 3  
550250122011025.00 3  
550250122011026.00 3  
550250122011029.00 3  
550250122011030.00 3  
550250122011031.00 3  
550250122011034.00 3  
550250122011035.00 3  
550250122011039.00 3  
550250122011058.00 3  
550250122011060.00 3  
550250122011061.00 3  
550250122011063.00 3  
550250123002000.00 3  
550250123002001.00 3  
550250123002002.00 3  
550250123002003.00 3  
550250123002004.00 3  
550250123002005.00 4  
550250123002006.00 4  
550250123002027.00 4  
550250123002029.00 4  
550250123002030.00 4  
550250123002031.00 4  
550250123002032.00 4  
550250123002033.00 4  
550250123002034.00 4  
550250123002035.00 4  







550250123002039.00 4  
550250123003000.00 3  
550250123003001.00 3  
550250123003002.00 3  
550250123003003.00 4  
550250123003004.00 3  
550250123003005.00 3  
550250123003006.00 3  
550250123003007.00 4  
550250123003008.00 4  
550250123003009.00 4  
550250123003010.00 4  
550250123003011.00 4  
550250123003012.00 4  
550250123003027.00 4  
550250123004001.00 4  
550250123004002.00 4  
550250123004003.00 4  
550250123004004.00 4  
550250123004008.00 3  
550250123004009.00 4  
550250123004010.00 4  
550250123004011.00 4  
550250123004012.00 4  
550250123004018.00 4  
550250123004019.00 4  
550250123004020.00 4  
550250123004021.00 4  
550250123004022.00 3  
550250123004023.00 3  
550250123004024.00 3  
550250123004025.00 3  
550250123004026.00 3  
550250123004027.00 3  
550250123004028.00 3  
550250123004029.00 3  
550250123004030.00 3  
550250123004031.00 3  
550250123004032.00 4  
550250123004033.00 4  
550250123004034.00 3  
550250123004035.00 3  
550250123004036.00 3  
550250123004037.00 4  
550250123004038.00 4  
550250123004039.00 3  
550250123004043.00 4  
550250123004044.00 4  







550250123004046.00 4  
550250123004047.00 3  


550250122011036_00 3  
550250122011037_00 3  
550250123004015_00 4  
550250123004040_00 4  
550250123004016_00 4  
550250123004007_01 3  
550250122011010_01 3  
   


 







District 3 Census Blocks   
550250122023011.00 6  
550250122023015.00 6  
550250122023016.00 6  
550250122023017.00 6  
550250122023018.00 6  
550250122023019.00 6  
550250122023020.00 6  
550250122023021.00 6  
550250122023022.00 6  
550250122023023.00 6  
550250122023024.00 6  
550250122023025.00 6  
550250122023026.00 6  
550250122025007.00 6  
550250122025012.00 6  
550250122025014.00 6  
550250122025015.00 6  
550250122025018.00 6  
550250123001000.00 6  
550250123001001.00 6  
550250123001002.00 6  
550250123001003.00 6  
550250123001007.00 6  
550250123001010.00 5  
550250123001011.00 5  
550250123001013.00 6  
550250123001015.00 5  
550250123001016.00 6  
550250123001017.00 6  
550250123001019.00 6  
550250123001020.00 6  
550250123001021.00 6  
550250123001022.00 5  
550250123001023.00 5  
550250123001024.00 5  
550250123001028.00 5  
550250123001030.00 5  
550250123001031.00 5  
550250123001032.00 5  
550250123001033.00 5  
550250123001034.00 5  
550250123001035.00 5  







550250123001036.00 5  
550250123001037.00 6  
550250123001038.00 5  
550250123001039.00 5  
550250123001040.00 5  
550250123001042.00 5  
550250123002007.00 6  
550250123002008.00 6  
550250123002009.00 6  
550250123002010.00 6  
550250123002011.00 6  
550250123002012.00 6  
550250123002013.00 5  
550250123002014.00 5  
550250123002015.00 5  
550250123002016.00 5  
550250123002017.00 5  
550250123002018.00 5  
550250123002019.00 5  
550250123002020.00 5  
550250123002021.00 5  
550250123002022.00 5  
550250123002024.00 5  
550250123002025.00 5  
550250123002026.00 5  
550250123002028.00 5  
550250123002036.00 5  
550250123002037.00 5  
550250123002038.00 5  


550250122011013_00 5  
550250123001026_00 5  
550250122025016_00 6  
550250123001004_00 6  
550250123001005_00 6  
550250123002023_01 5  
   


 







District 4 Census Blocks 8  
550250106005021.00 8  
550250122021003.00 8  
550250122021004.00 8  
550250122021006.00 8  
550250122021009.00 8  
550250122021010.00 8  
550250122021025.00 8  
550250122021028.00 8  
550250122021029.00 8  
550250122021032.00 8  
550250122021034.00 8  
550250122021035.00 8  
550250122021036.00 8  
550250122021039.00 8  
550250122024000.00 8  
550250122024001.00 8  
550250122024002.00 9  
550250122024003.00 8  
550250122024004.00 7  
550250122024005.00 9  
550250122024006.00 7  
550250122024007.00 7  
550250122024008.00 7  
550250122024010.00 9  
550250122024011.00 9  
550250122024012.00 9  
550250122024013.00 7  
550250122024014.00 7  
550250122025002.00 7  
550250122025003.00 7  
550250122025004.00 8  
550250122025005.00 8  
550250122025006.00 8  
550250122025008.00 7  
550250122025009.00 7  
550250122025010.00 7  
550250122025011.00 7  
550250122025013.00 7  
550250123001009.00 7  
550250124002001.00 8  


550250124002003_01 9  
550250124002014.00 9  







550250124002015.00 9  
550250124002016.00 9  
550250124002017.00 9  
550250124002018.00 9  


550250124002098_01 9  
550250124002100.00 9  


550250106005019_00 7  
550250122021027_01 8  
550250122021011_01 8  
550250124002004_01 9  
550250124002000_01 9  
550250124002019_01 9  
   


 







SA
ca


de
my


St


E South St


W
illi


am
s D


r


Ho
el


Av
e


Ki
ng


 St


W South St


N Page St


Skaalen Rd


Jackson St
N 


Va
n B


ur
en


 St


McComb Rd
Hamilton St


N 
M


ad
iso


n S
t


Dunkirk Ave


Sta
rr 


Sc
ho


ol 
Rd


East St


Rutland-Dunn Town Line Rd


Co
lli


ns
Rd


W Main St


Ki
ng


s L
yn


n R
d


Am
un


ds
on


 Pk
wy


W Prospect St


Robert St


Ny
ga


ar
d S


t


Garden Ave


Li
nc


oln
 Av


e


Ro
we


 St


Ple
asa


nt 
Vi


ew
 D


r


Velkommen Way


Roby Rd


W Milwaukee St


Spring Rd


S D
ivi


sio
n S


t
Oa


kv
iew


Dr


Kr iedeman Dr


Korgen Dr


Eastwood Dr


N 
M


or
ris


 StS ilverado Dr


Lin
ne


ru
dD


r


S F
ou


rth
 St


AspenRd


W Wilson St


Vernon St


Forton St


Ra
cet


ra
ck


 R
d


W McKinley St


Stone Crest Rd


North St


S Q
ua


m 
Dr


Co
un


try
 C


lub
 R


d


Taylor Ln


Chapin Ln


Anne Dr


Burritt Rd


Ha
nso


nR
d


Moline St


Giehler Dr


Park St


Hilldale Ln


S Page St


W Taft St


Su
ndt


Ln


Ri
ver


vie
wD


r


Greig Trl


No
rs


eP
kw


y


Shadyside Dr


Jo
hn


son
 St


Ridge St


HylandDr


BuckinghamRd


MatthewWay


S M
on


ro
e S


t


Roy Ave


S W
ate


r S
t


Aaker Rd
S F


ra
nk


lin
 St


N 
M


on
ro


e S
t


Vi
rg


in
La


ke
Dr


Harding St


P al m
er


S t


Giles St


S G
jer


tso
n S


t


Eisenhower Rd


Pr
og


res
s L


n


S P
ra


iri
e S


t


Gr
an


t S
t


Smedal Dr
Mel lum Dr


N 
Pr


air
ie 


St
S M


ad
iso


n S
t


Garfield St


W Jefferson St


Oak St


E Jefferson StS F
or


res
t S


t


Westchester Cir


S S
ixt


h S
t


Pin
e S


t


S SeventhSt


N Div
ision St


S
Lynn St


Barber Dr


Sk
yli


ne
 D


r


EAcademy St


West St


Para
dis


e Dr


Quam Dr


N 
Ha


rri
son


 St


Brooklyn Dr


Industria l Cir


El
m


St


Roosevelt St


Lowell St


Truman Rd


As
hL


n


W Chicago St


Bj
oin


 D
r


S B
ro


ok
lyn


 D
r


Ap
ollo


Cir


Be
rry


 St


EWilsonSt


Carl Ave
Isham St


DuncanRd


No
ra


 St


Felland St


Bus i ness Park Cir
Ha


rve
st


Ln


Nottingham Rd


Kvamme
Ln


Meadow Dr


MeadowGrn


Holtan Rd


S hore ViewDr


Kegonsa Rd


Coopers Cswy


Yahara Rd


Aalseth Ln


Kenilwor th


Ct


Mandt Pkwy


Larv ikLn


Dev on sh ire Rd


Fa
llen


OakCir


Sheryl Ln


Course View Dr


Co
mm


erc
e R


d


Halver s on
Rd


Ple
asa


nt 
Hi


ll R
d


Haggman Rd


Furseth Rd


Schroeder Ln


Lunde Cir


Kensington


Sq


£¤51


³±B


³±N


OP138


WARD
3


WARD
4


WARD
13


WARD
11


WARD
12


WARD
1


WARD
8


WARD
9


WARD
5


WARD
7


WARD
6


WARD
2


City of Stoughton
16 Wards


Wards 1 and 2 constitue
Aldermanic District 1


Wards 3, 4, 10, 11, 12 and 14
constitute Aldermanic District 2


Wards 5 and 6 constitute
Aldermanic District 3


Wards 7, 8, 9, 15 and 16
constitute Aldermanic District 4


ALDERMANIC
DISTRICT


4


ALDERMANIC
DISTRICT


3


`


`


ALDERMANIC
DISTRICT


2


`


ALDERMANIC
DISTRICT


1
`


Date: 1/13/2020
I


WARD
16


WARD
15


WARD
10


`
WARD


14


`


`















Proposed map population: 


 


District 1:  W1-1,712 + W2-1,628 = 3,340 


 


District 2:  W3-1,734 + W4-1,516 = 3,250 


 


District 3:  W5-1,729 + W6-1,626 = 3,345 


 


District 4:  W7-1,717 + W8-1,519 = 3,236 


 


 


 


2nd Option-wards returned 


 


District 1:  W1-1,712 + W2-1,636 = 3,348 


 


District 2:  W3-1,523 + W4-1,618 = 3,141 


 


District 3:  W5-1,820 + W6-1,626 = 3,446 


 


District 4:  W7-1,717 + W8-1,519 = 3,236 


 



















City of Stoughton  


 
Dane County Board Narrows Maps to three 


 
Thursday, 
September 30 


Send Notice to the Hub for Aldermanic Ordinance   
Monday, October 
11 


 
Final City map(s) needed for public viewing   


Thursday, October 
14 


 
County Board adopts their (tentative) Supervisory Districts Map 


 
Thursday, October 
14 


2nd publication of Aldermanic Ordinance in Paper  Thursday, October 
21 


 
Adopt ward plan resolution and aldermanic ordinance at Common Council meeting 
(Waive second reading) 


 
Tuesday, October 
26 


 
Deadline to submit approved maps to the County 


 
Friday, November 5 


 
Send Type A Notice to the Paper for Publication  


 
Friday, November 
15 


Type A Publication Date Thursday, 
November 21 


First Day to Circulate Nomination Papers  Wednesday, 
December 1 





		10  O-22-2021 Ordinance creating new wards and aldermanic districts (2)

		10  O-22-2021 Ordinance creating new wards and aldermanic districts (2)

		10a Exhibit 1

		09a District 1

		09b District 2

		09c District 3

		09d District 4



		10b C_Stoughton_Wards CURRENT MAP

		10c Proposed map 10.26.21

		10d Proposed map population 10.26.21

		10e Population totals

		10f 2nd option-Blocks returned

		10g 2nd option blocks returned

		10h Inked Census block to move

		10i Redistricting Timeline










RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


RESOLUTION SUPPORTING CREATION OF A NONPARTISAN PROCEDURE 
FOR THE PREPARATION OF LEGISLATIVE AND CONGRESSIONAL 


REDISTRICTING PLANS 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Common Council October 26, 2021 


 
File Number: 


 
R-160- 


 
Date Introduced:   October 26 2021 


WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VI, Section 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution, the Wisconsin Legislature 
is directed to redistrict state legislative districts “according to the number of inhabitants” at its next 
session following the decennial federal census. The Legislature also reapportions congressional districts 
at the same interval pursuant to federal law; and, 


WHEREAS, because state and federal legislative redistricting is controlled by the majority party at the 
time of the redistricting, legislative and congressional plans in Wisconsin have been subject to partisan 
influence that puts the desires of politicians ahead of the electoral prerogative of the people. 
Redistricting to achieve partisan gains is improper, whether it is done by Republicans or Democrats; 
and, 


WHEREAS, a panel of federal district court judges ruled that the redistricting done in Wisconsin in 
2011 was unconstitutional. Legal fees in defense of the 2011 redistricting cost taxpayers in excess of $4 
million, and,  


WHEREAS, the state and congressional districts belong to the citizens of Wisconsin and not to any 
legislator, interest group or political party, the redistricting process should not be a tool used by those in 
power to protect and bolster their power, but should be designed with the best interest of Wisconsin’s 
democracy and its citizens; and,  


WHEREAS, Wisconsin’s historical practice of redistricting by the majority party in each legislative 
chamber is an outdated practice that stifles political competition, discourages compromise, ensures 
continued control by the party in power, and lacks the transparency necessary to reinforce citizens’ faith 
in the democratic process; and,  


WHEREAS, there is a critical need at this time to restore trust, compromise and fair competition in 
Wisconsin politics.  


NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Common Council of the City of Stoughton hereby 
insists the State Legislature, during this current redistricting process following the 2020 federal census, 
to pass legislation that creates a fair, nonpartisan and transparent procedure for the preparation of 
legislative and congressional redistricting plans; and,  


2021







BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the process promotes more accountability and transparency and 
prohibits the consideration of voting patterns, party information, and incumbents’ residence information 
or demographic information in drawing the maps, except as necessary to ensure minority participation as 
required by the U.S. Constitution; and,  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Common Council of the City of Stoughton advocates for an 
amendment to the Wisconsin Constitution giving the responsibility of legislative redistricting to a 
nonpartisan commission; and,  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Clerk is directed to send a copy of this resolution to the 
Governor of the State of Wisconsin, the Wisconsin League of Municipalities, and current representatives 
of the State Legislature. 
 
 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     
 
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
 
 
                                             
Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 
 


 
 
Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 
 


 








CITY OF STOUGHTON 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 


207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 
 


(608) 873-6677     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE:     July 26, 2021 
TO:          Finance Committee and Common Council 
RE:          51 West TIF Application 
 
51 West is to be a 70.25-acre mixed use neighborhood with 23 development lots (and 
seven outlots) in the northwest limits of the City of Stoughton – just south of Rutland-
Dunn Town Line Road and split by USH 51.  
 
Two commercial lots can host a variety of retail and business uses that would serve 
nearby residential neighborhoods and commuters (e.g., grocers, retailers, medical offices, 
financial offices, limited- and full-service restaurants, gas and conveniences store, or 
other similar commercial uses). The remainder of the neighborhood will include 357 
residential units in a mix of formats, from single-family to duplex and small and large 
multi-family buildings, providing for a balanced, resilient neighborhood. Parks and trails 
are to be established on each side of USH 51. Stormwater facilities are large (about 19% 
of total land area), in order to prevent increased runoff even in 200-year storm events. 
 
The developer has indicated there is a gap between the anticipated costs and anticipated 
revenues of an estimated $8,108,287. This gap is due to multiple factors, including the 
high percentage of the site (19%) reserved for stormwater, the strong investment in parks 
(16.5% of the acreage and $960,000 in improvement fees), the increasing and uncertain 
costs of construction and materials, the addition of various off-site improvements to serve 
this and other development in the area, and the costs to carry the debt that the TID is 
covering. We estimate a total of $4.2M in interest payments over a 17-year period. 
Because this is to be a developer-funded TID, the interest cost is included in the funding 
request. 
 
The authority to approve the use of TIF assistance is vested solely in the Common 
Council. The City of Stoughton has a policy in place to assist the Common Council in 
determining whether or not to create a TIF District, and in determining whether or not to 
approve the use of TIF assistance for particular projects. Section 4 of the aforementioned 
policy instructs the Finance Director to provide a report to the Finance Committee and 
the Common Council addressing the following issues, which shall be considered by the 
Finance Committee and City Council prior to approving any TIF project: 
 
 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





A. Is the project authorized by the Project Plan for the TIF District?  
B. Does the project serve one or more of the City’s general goals for the use of 


TIF?  
C. Is Tax Incremental Financing feasible, in that the TIF District will support 


the level of TIF investment?  
D. Is the amount of Tax Increment Financing requested reasonably necessary to 


make the project financially viable?  
E. Should a development agreement be required, and what terms should be 


included in the agreement?  
F. Is more process (such as additional public hearings or a referendum) 


appropriate?  
G. Such other factors as either the Finance Committee or the City Council deem 


appropriate.  
 
The following section of this report addresses the issues noted above for consideration by 
the Finance Committee and Common Council. 
 


A. Is the project authorized by the Project Plan for the TIF District?  
 
The TIF District that will accommodate this project has not yet been 
created. If the Council is in agreement with the fact that this project will 
not move forward without TIF assistance and is tentatively comfortable 
with the funding request, this project will be specifically outlined in the TIF 
Project Plan.  


 
B. Does the project serve one or more of the City’s general goals for the use of 


TIF?  
 
1. Eliminate blighting influences, redevelop underutilized lands, and 
provide suitable sites for industrial, commercial or residential 
development.  


51 West is located with good highway visibility and access and 
designed for the compatibility of a mix of commercial and residential 
uses.  
 


2. Achieve or accelerate development on sites that would not be developed 
without the use of Tax Incremental Financing.  


The costs to develop 51 West and prepare for additional west side 
development are projected to exceed revenues by several million 
dollars. Without TIF support this land will not be developed now and 
may not be feasible for many years. 
 
 


 







3. Increase employment opportunities in the City.  
51 West will include commercial uses and employment opportunities 
and will support the housing demand for employees sought by other 
City employers. 


 
4. Increase the tax base for the City and other taxing jurisdictions.  


51 West is projected to add approximately $54 million in new tax base 
(2021 values).  
 


5. Assists implementation of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  
The proposed mix of commercial uses and residential uses (single-
family, duplex, multifamily and senior housing) is consistent with the 
“Planned Mixed Use” designation in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive 
Plan.  
 


6. Provide affordable housing opportunities.  
The proposed mix of housing types will help meet a variety of housing 
needs in the City. At the City’s discretion, and separate from this 
request, TIF funding could specifically support the development of 
income-qualified housing to improve the availability of housing 
affordable to the local workforce.  
 


7. Encourage unsubsidized private development in the City.  
The proposed TID would subsidize private development, though only to 
the extent necessary to make it feasible. But for this assistance, these 
lands are unlikely to develop in a manner consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 


C. Is Tax Incremental Financing feasible, in that the TIF District will support 
the level of TIF investment?  


 
51 West is requesting TIF assistance utilizing the “pay-as-you-go” method. 
This particular method, also known as developer financing, will reduce the 
financial exposure of the City and require 51 West to pay for the upfront 
costs of the proposed project costs related to on-site work. The City will 
provide a Municipal Revenue Obligation (MRO) to establish the criteria for 
reimbursement and to limit its financial exposure.  
 


D. Is the amount of Tax Increment Financing requested reasonably necessary to 
make the project financially viable? This section also addresses Items G and 
H in the policy regarding developer equity.   


 
Pending results of review done by Ehlers. 
 







 
E. Should a development agreement be required, and what terms should be 


included in the agreement?  
 


A Development Agreement will be required.  
 


F. Is more process (such as additional public hearings or a referendum) 
appropriate?  


 
This will need to be determined by the Common Council and is strictly left to 
its discretion. The creation of the TIF will require a Public Hearing. 
 


G. Such other factors as either the Finance Committee or the City Council deem 
appropriate.  


 
Similar to Item F above, this is strictly left to the Common Council’s 
discretion. 
 


Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Jamin Friedl, CPA 
Director of Finance/Comptroller 







1 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
TAX INCREMENTAL FINANCING APPLICATION 


 
Date: July 30, 2021 
 
APPLICANT INFORMATION 
 
Legal Name:   RHD Properties, LLC          


Mailing Address:   1081 Eagle Court, Edgerton, WI 53534        


Phone:   608-712-2048     Email:   Bob@rhdproperties.com     


Legal Entity (check one): ____ Individual(s) ____ Corporation  __X__ LLC  


____ Partnership ____ Other: ______________________________________________________  


If not a Wisconsin corporation / partnership / LLC, state where organized: _____________________  


Will a new entity be created for ownership (check one)?  ____ Yes __X__ No  


Principals of existing or proposed corporation / partnership / LLC and extent of ownership interests:  


Name Address Title Interest 
Robert Dvorak 1081 Eagle Court, Edgerton, WI 53534 Owner 100% 


 
 
DEVELOPMENT TEAM 
 
Developer:  RHD Properties, LLC     


Engineer, Planner:  MSA Professional Services, Inc.       


Development Team expertise and experience in developing similar projects:  


Developer Robert Dvorak and his wife have developed both residential and commercial property in Stoughton, 


including the Nordic Ridge residential neighborhood and Deer Point Business Park, located just south of 51 West 


on the west side of Hwy 51.  In addition, development partner MSA Professional Services, Inc. has experience 


with a wide range of commercial and residential development design and construction across Dane County and 


Wisconsin.   


 
Project Timeline 


Step Date 
Final Plan / Specification Preparation East – Summer 2021  West – 2022-2023 
Bidding and Contracting East – Summer/Fall 2021 West – 2022-2023 
Firm Financing Approval East – Summer/Fall 2021 West – 2022 
Construction / Rehabilitation East – 2021-2022  West – 2023-2031 
Landscaping / Site Work East – 2022                              West – 2023-2031 
Occupancy / Lease Up East – 2022                                 West – 2023-2031 







2 
 


Project Narrative:   
51 West is to be a 70.25-acre mixed use neighborhood with 23 development lots (and seven outlots) in the 
northwest limits of the City of Stoughton – just south of Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road and split by USH 51.   


Two commercial lots can host a variety of retail and business uses that would serve nearby residential 
neighborhoods and commuters (e.g., grocers, retailers, medical offices, financial offices, limited- and full-
service restaurants, gas and conveniences store, or other similar commercial uses).  The remainder of the 
neighborhood will include 357 residential units in a mix of formats, from single-family to duplex and small 
and large multi-family buildings, providing for a balanced, resilient neighborhood. Parks and trails are to be 
established on each side of USH 51.  Stormwater facilities are large (about 19% of total land area), in order to 
prevent increased runoff even in 200-year storm events.   


• West side of USH 51: 2 commercial lots (13.68 acres), 9 single-family lots (2.6 total acres), 3 multi-
family lots (148 units, 7.83), 3 zero-entry condo lots (30 units, 5.36 acres), 2 park and recreation lots 
(5.89 acres), and 3 stormwater management outlots (9.17 acres). 


• East side of USH 51: 1 multi-family lot (160 units, 4.97 acres), 5 duplex lots (10 units, 1.46 acres), and 
2 outlets offering both park space (5.72 acres) and stormwater management facilities (4.39 acres). 


 
Financing 
The project will be financed through a combination of developer equity and bank loans from the Bank of 
Deerfield and Park Bank, with these loans to be paid off by a combination of land sales and TIF support.   
 


• The bank loans will total $3,000,000 and will be the first source of additional funds when construction 
begins in late 2021.  It is assumed that these loans will have a 10-year terms at a rate of 4.5%.  It will 
be paid off in 2031.  


 
• The developer has approximately $1.7M in the project right now and will provide additional loans for 


all outstanding costs after the bank loans are applied.  As parcels are sold that revenue will first be 
used to make payment on the bank loans and then be credited to the developer to reduce the 
outstanding developer loan.  The developer loan will range as high as $5.7M in 2025 and will pay off in 
2037.    


 
Based on our projections of when development will occur (beginning in 2022), TID increment revenue and 
payments to the developer would commence in 2024 with a payment of $185,000 and would retire the 
remaining debt in 2037, with a peak annual payment of $811,000 in 2036.  Our projections assume about 66% 
of the TID increment will be allocated to 51 West, reserving for other uses the remaining 33% of increment in 
years 2024-2037 and all increment that can be collected in years 2038-2041.  That repayment schedule can be 
adjusted to use more or less of the available increment each year, with a corresponding impact on the cost of 
borrowing and total funding assistance needed.  As currently projected and scheduled, a total of 54% of 
available increment would be available for other purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







3 
 


 
Cost Estimates 
The total cost to develop 51 West is estimated at about $19.5M, including financing costs. 
 
Development Cost Estimates – Onsite and Serving 51 West Only 
Land Purchase and Clearing           $1,261,246 
Taxes and Holding Costs               $320,000 
Engineering/TIA/TID Creation/Permitting (MSA/Strand)                              $525,535 
Park Fees /Fees In Lieu Of              $959,802 
East Side Improvements*            $2,851,000 
West Side Improvements*           $5,948,000 
Street Signs                     $3,500 
Gas/Electric                $365,000 
Bank Loan  10 Yr AVE Balance $3,000,000 
   @ 4.75%  Holding Expense        $1,425,000 
Developer Loan  20 Yr AVE Balance $3,011,000 
   @4.75% Holding Expense        $2,783,000 
Property Taxes  10 Yr Taxes and holding Cost 
   (30,000 p/yr)             $300,000 
Surety                   $18,000 
City Admin, Bank Setup/Appraisals, Legal            $180,000 
Title/Transfer/Recording Fees                $70,000 
Subtotal                          $16,710,083 


Development Cost Estimates – offsite and/or serving off-site development, in City 
Roby Road*  Upgrade Existing 8” Sanitary to 10” (Kings Lynn to Virgin Lake)             $259,000 
Watermain Upsizes** Upgrade watermain 8” to 10” (Oak Opening, Nygaard, under USH 51)             $50,000 
Sanitary extensions** Extend 8” Sanitary to plat edges on Oak Opening and Nygaard         $40,000 
Sanitary/Water Main** Bore/Sleeve/pipes under Hwy 51          $155,000 
Engineering  (MSA/Strand)               $50,000 
Subtotal                                    $554,000 


Development Cost Estimates – Oak Opening Drive, in Town 
Oak Opening (offsite)* Watermain             $445,000 
Oak Opening (offsite)*  Sewer             $304,000 
Oak Opening (offsite)*  Pavement repair            $133,000 
Engineering  (MSA/Strand)               $60,000 
Subtotal                                    $942,000 


Overall Project Expense Total         $18,206,083 


7% Management Fee for Entire Project                        $1,274,426 


Total Project Expense 51 West          $19,480,509 







4 
 


*Detailed estimates for East, West, Roby and Oak Opening are provided separately.  They include a 28% 
contingency reflecting the uncertainty around material pricing. 


**Costs for onsite water upsizing, sanitary pipe extensions, and pipes under Hwy 51 are part of the East and 
West estimates in the appendix.  These costs have been deducted from the East Side and West Side costs 
above.  The sewer and water main extensions under USH 51 are deducted from the East Side costs, as they 
will be completed concurrent with the East Side work. 


 
Revenue Estimates 
All revenue for 51 West will come in the form of lot sales; individual lot development will be completed by 
others.  The following estimates are based on conversations with potential buyers. 
 
Lots 01 - 03 15 Duplex Structures ($55,000 per units, 30 units)   $1,650,000 
Lots 04, 05, 18 292 Units ($10,000 per unit, 286 units)     $2,920,000 
Lot 06  16 Units ($40,000 per unit, 16 units)        $640,000  
Lots 07 – 15 9 Residential Lots ($100,000 per lot)        $900,000 
Lots 16 – 17 13.68 Acres (595,901 Sq Ft X $9.00 p/sq/ft)    $5,363,109 
Lots 19 – 23 5 Duplex Lots ($117,000 per lot)         $625,000 
       SUBTOTAL                           $12,098,109 
 
       6% Realtor Fee     -$723,486 
 
       NET               $11,372,222  
 
Need for TIF Support 
There is a gap between the anticipated costs and anticipated revenues of an estimated $8,108,287.  This gap 
is due to multiple factors, including the high percentage of the site (19%) reserved for stormwater, the strong 
investment in parks (16.5% of the acreage and $960,000 in improvement fees), the increasing and uncertain 
costs of construction and materials, the addition of various off-site improvements to serve this and other 
development in the area, and the costs to carry the debt that the TID is covering.   We estimate a total of $4.2M 
in interest payments over a 17-year period.  Because the loan commitments are to be held by the developer, 
the interest cost is included in the funding request.   
 
Consistency with the City’s TIF Policy 
The City’s 2016 TIF policy established a set of “General Goals for the use of Tax Increment Financing”.  The 
seven goals are listed here with commentary about the consistency of the proposed 51 West TID. 


A. Eliminate blighting influences, redevelop underutilized lands, and provide suitable sites for industrial, 
commercial or residential development.  
51 West is located with good highway visibility and access and designed for the compatibility of a 
mix of commercial and residential uses. 


B. Achieve or accelerate development on sites that would not be developed without the use of Tax 
Incremental Financing.  







5 
 


The costs to develop 51 West and prepare for additional west side development are projected to 
exceed revenues by several million dollars.  Without TIF support this land will not be developed now 
and may not be feasible for many years. 


C. Increase employment opportunities in the City.  
51 West will include commercial uses and employment opportunities and will support the housing 
demand for employees sought by other City employers. 


D. Increase the tax base for the City and other taxing jurisdictions.  
51 West is projected to add approximately $54 million in new tax base (2021 values). 


E. Assists implementation of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  
The proposed mix of commercial uses and residential uses (single-family, duplex, multifamily and 
senior housing) is consistent with the “Planned Mixed Use” designation in the City’s 2017 
Comprehensive Plan. 


F. Provide affordable housing opportunities.  
The proposed mix of housing types will help meet a variety of housing needs in the City.  At the 
City’s discretion, and separate from this request, TIF funding could specifically support the 
development of income-qualified housing to improve the availability of housing affordable to the 
local workforce. 


G. Encourage unsubsidized private development in the City.  
The proposed TID would subsidize private development, though only to the extent necessary to 
make it feasible.  But for this assistance, these lands are unlikely to develop in a manner consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan.   


 
Jobs Created 
51 West includes two commercial sites that could host a variety of retail or business uses. For job creation 
purposes, it should be assumed that these are mostly service sector jobs and a mix of full time and part time 
roles; a specific number projection is not possible.  Most of the development will feature housing units, which 
will address the continued growth in demand for housing and support the efforts of existing employers to 
attract employees to Stoughton. Housing availability for people employed locally contributes to the success of 
those employers and increases the City’s capture of consumer spending by people employed in the City. 
 
Value Created 
We estimate total new taxable value of about $54 million at build-out of 51 West.  This is to be a developer-
financed TID, with the TID-reimbursed loans to be held by the developer.  As such, the risk is carried by the 
developer and a value guarantee is not required. 
 


Parcel 
Number 


Type of 
Development 


Unit 
Count 


Land Use 
Class Acres 


Estimated 
Growth in 


Value 


Estimated 
Construction 


Year Notes 
1 Condominiums 12 Residential 2.26 $3,930,450 2031 Virgin Lake Comparison 


2 Condominiums 12 Residential 2.12 $3,930,450 2029 Virgin Lake Comparison 


3 Condominiums 6 Residential 1.06 $1,965,225 2026 Virgin Lake Comparison 


4 MF Residential 36 Residential 1.53 $2,793,780 2026 Developer Calculation 


5 MF Residential 96 Residential 3.75 $7,450,080 2028 Developer Calculation 


6 MF Residential 16 Residential 2.55 $3,000,000 2024 Developer Calculation 







6 
 


7 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.34 $462,015 2025 Virgin Lake Comparison 


8 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 2025 Virgin Lake Comparison 


9 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 2026 Virgin Lake Comparison 


10 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 2026 Virgin Lake Comparison 


11 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 2027 Virgin Lake Comparison 


12 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.29 $394,072 2027 Virgin Lake Comparison 


13 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 2028 Virgin Lake Comparison 


14 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.28 $380,483 2028 Virgin Lake Comparison 


15 SF Residential 1 Residential 0.29 $394,072 2028 Virgin Lake Comparison 


16 Commercial 1 Commercial 1.74 $5,288,383 2024 Developer Calculation 


17 Commercial 3 Commercial 11.61 $7,525,792 2026 Developer Calculation 


18 MF Residential 160 Residential 4.86 $12,416,800 2022 Developer Calculation 


19 Duplex 1 Residential 0.32 $402,739 2022 Nygaared/Jackson Area 


20 Duplex 1 Residential 0.27 $339,811 2022 Nygaared/Jackson Area 


21 Duplex 1 Residential 0.27 $339,811 2022 Nygaared/Jackson Area 


22 Duplex 1 Residential 0.27 $339,811 2023 Nygaared/Jackson Area 


23 Duplex 1 Residential 0.32 $402,739 2023 Nygaared/Jackson Area 


O1 Outlot 0 Outlot 0.68 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


O2 Outlot 0 Outlot 1.98 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


O3 Outlot 0 Outlot 5.21 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


O4 Outlot 0 Outlot 1.50 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


O5 Outlot 0 Outlot 3.81 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


O6 Outlot 0 Outlot 1.22 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


O7 Outlot 0 Outlot 6.47 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


O8 Outlot 0 Outlot 2.52 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


ROW Right-of-Way 0 
Right-of-


Way 10.24 $0 2021 Included for acreage 


Total  356  69.2 $53,658,929   
 
Site Map and Project Rendering:  See attached Development Plan dated March 29, 2021 
 
Market Analysis:  Regarding the market feasibility of the residential components of 51 West, there is ample 
evidence of demand for housing of various types.  Ownership housing prices have been rising quickly in 
response to inadequate supply.  Numerous housing studies completed in Dane County in the past few years 
describe a lingering shortage of inventory after construction mostly stopped during the Great Recession.  
Multifamily rental housing also continues to be in high demand because of shifting market preferences and the 
low inventory and high prices in the ownership market.  Vacancy rates in rental housing have risen from historic 
lows to healthier levels in recent years due to construction across the region, but continued construction is 
necessary to keep pace with population growth in the County.  51 West offers a range of housing types in order 
to establish a robust, resilient neighborhood.  An estimate of values for the planned units is provided in the 
preceding table.  These values are derived from a review of sale prices and values in comparable development 
in the Stoughton area, and purchase negotiations with builders.  The development team is confident in the 
stability of the residential values because the housing market is in a persistent state of inadequate supply due 
to a lack of construction during and after the Great Recession. 











9 94 94 94
458 9249 189 94 46 44


65 9249 8


51 WEST SUBDIVISION
                       CITY OF STOUGHTON, WI


Units SF Acres Provided Difference
West Side* 187 274516 6.30 6.03 0.27
East Side 170 249560 5.74 6.01 0.27
TOTAL 357 524,076 12.04 12.04 0.00


* Inclusive of trail area in Lot 2 & Outlot 2


Parland Required ProposedDevelopment


March 29, 2021


PAVED PATH
connect through 


Linnerud Property


PAVED PATH
connect to 


Linnerud Property


PAVED PATH
connect through to 
Virgin Lake Park


PA
V


E
D


  PA
T


H


PA
V


E
D


 P
A


T
H


PAVED PATH


9 99 448 4466 4444


9020


9288


922


918
9166


24


922
2


930


90455 926
92
6


92266


99224


9222


992
0


88


Pr
innnntt
eddd


BBByy


Unin ts SF AcF resresres ProPrPr vidvv ed Ded Ded iffi ereereerencenn
West Side* 1* 87 27774544 16 6.66 30 6.6 030303 0.00 272727
EaEaaststst SiSS dee 170 2249560 5.774 64 64 6.01 0.22277
TOTTOTAL 3L 3357575 524,076 1112.22 04044 11212.004 044 .00000


* InIInclclclusive of trail ararreaeaea innn Loottt 2 & Outlot 2


Parlrlana dd Requirrrededed PrP oposoo edeeDevelopmenee tt


PUBLIC ACCESS 
EASEMENT


9999444400000
936


9999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999922222222222444444


9999999999999999166666666666
9999999999999144444444444
999999999999999999911222222222222222
9999900008888888888


90000000000000000000000000000000000


942


992288


99999222226666
991188


9999999990000044
99999999999999999999999999999999999990000000000000000000000000000000022222222222222222222


8888888888999999999999888888888888


9930
99999999999999922222222220000000000000000000000000000009911


00


99999333334


92222


938
9329999999999999999999999999999999999999999999996222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222


999999966666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999995555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555555888888888888888888888888
99999999999999999999999999999999999999999995566666666666666666666666666666
995555555555555555555555555555554
999999999999999999999999999999999999555522222222222222222
9999955555555555550
99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999488888888
99999999944666666666666666666
9444444444444444444444444
99999999999999999444444444222
999999444444444444444400
999999999388888888888888888
9999999999999999999333333333366666666
93333334444444444444
932222222
99999999333333333333333333333330000000000000000000000000000000000000000
99999999999999992222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222228888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888888


99999999999999999999222222222266666666666666666666666666666666666666666


99999999999999999999222222222222222 999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999922222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222222
0000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000


9999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999111
888888888888 9999999999911111111
66666666 999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999991111
444444444444444444444 9999999111111111111
222222


99900000000000000000000000088888


9999992222244444


9111111111111111111111100000000000000000000000


95566


9999999999999999999999999444444444444444444444444444222222222222222222222222222222


90


9900


8988


8890


889
6


899
2


95699522222


999944448888994466


924


99999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999996666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666
9999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999966666666666666666666666662222222222222222222222222222222222222222


9999999999944444444444444444440000000000000000000000000000009999999999999999999999999999999999999933333333333333333333333333333333333333888888888888


99999966666666666999996666666666444444444444444444444444444444444444444


994444444444
93


936666699999933333322 999999000000000000000000000
666666666666666666666666666666


999000000000000000000000000000000
44444444444444444444


92


9555550


999999999999999999999000
6666


995500


999999999999999990000000000000000000006666666666666666666666


934


99332


99228


950


999995555555550000000000


99996644


93333333333333333333333366666666666


992200


8


999993333344444444


999999999333333333333333
2222222222222222222222222


999999999999999993333333333333333333333332222222222222


993300


999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999222222222222222222222222222222222222222226666


999999999999999999999222222222222222222444444444444444444444444444444


920


9999999999999999999999999000444


99996662222


999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999999666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666644444444444444444444444444444444444444444


99999996660000


995544


994488


944
2


9440000000000


92
88


9244


99999999999999999999999999999999999999999922222222222222222222222222222222222222222444444444444


9222222222222222222222222
0


904


904


896666


9999966662222


9999000000000006666666666666666666666666666


yy::
ssstttrrr
eeeemmm


llleett
ttt,
Fil
e:
\\\\mm


ssaa
--ppp
sss.c
om


\fs
\\PP
ro
joee
cts


\1
99000
000000
ssssss\\\111


999000
99000
sss\\111
88899888808899


99911 66
\ 6
19
0999
111
01111111111111111111
\\\\\\\GG
ISSSSS\\
1199
099
10
0011111
_C
ooooooooooonnnnnnn
cccccccee
ppptt
.m
xxddd


Pr
inttttttttttt


PAVED PATHHH
conco nect through 


Linininnernen ud Property


PAVAAVEEED PATPATTATHHH
cconocono nect to 


Lininnernene udu ProProP perty


PAVPAVPAVEDEDED PATPATPATHH
conoo nececneccnect ttt hrohrohroughughugh tototo 
VirViVi ginini LLaL ke Pararkkk


00000


9999999999992222222
2222


9


A
T


D
  PA


VVV
PAPA


V
E


D
 PAA


T
H


T
HH


PA
VVVVV


D
 


D
 P


AA
T


PA
V


PA
V


PA
V


E
D


 
E


D
E


D
PA


T
H


PAVVV DD
00000
PP TTTTTTTATVA 6666


PAVPAVAVEDED PATTTHHH


PUBLIC ACCESSPUBLIC ACCESS
EASEMENT


DVORAK DRIVE


OA
K 


OP
EN


IN
G 


DR
IV


E


NYG
AARD  S


TR
EE


T


VELKOMMEN  WAY


POTENTIAL ROUNDABOUT
(Reserve Right-of-Way)


SINGLE-FAMILY LOTS (Total 9 Units)


SMALL MULTI-FAMILY LOTS (56 units)


LARGE MULTI-FAMILY LOTS (292 units)


COMMERCIAL LOTS


PA
LM


  G
RA


SS
  W


AY


US
H 


 51


RUTLAND DUNN TOWN LINE ROAD


POTENTIAL ROUNDABOUT
(Reserve Right-of-Way)


FUTURE ROAD EXTENSION
(100-FT Right-of-Way)


DISCLAIMER: 
This neighborhood concept illustrates a proposed road layout, storm water management infrastructure, and lot layout with speculative development.  The number of lots and design 
for specifi c sites are generalized based on what fi ts the location and intended use for the area.  Development plans will be proposed by property owners at a future date based on 
market conditions and interests, and will be subject to City review (per zoning and subdivision ordinance) with this concept providing guidance to general connectivity and use.


BLUE GRASS  DRIVE


NY
GA


AR
D 


 S
TR


EE
T


Hi
gh


wa
y 5


0-
ft S


etb
ac


k
Hi


gh
wa


y 5
0-


ft S
etb


ac
k


Hi
gh


wa
y 5


0-
ft S


etb
ac


k


Interim Roadway







City of Stoughton Policy  
for the Creation of Tax Incremental Finance Districts  


and the Approval of TIF Projects. 
 
1. Purpose.  This policy has been prepared to assist the City in determining whether to 


create a Tax Incremental Finance District, and in determining whether to approve 
the use of Tax Incremental Financing for particular projects.  The authority to 
approve the use of Tax Incremental Financing is vested solely in the City Council.  
The City reserves the right to reject any and all projects, including projects that are 
eligible for the use of Tax Incremental Financing, for any reason or no reason.  The 
City Council reserves the right to approve or disapprove any project as it deems 
appropriate. 
 


2. General Goals for the use of Tax Incremental Financing.  The City may consider 
whether a TIF District or a TIF project serves one or more of the following general 
goals when deciding whether to create a TIF District, or whether to provide TIF 
financing for a particular project: 
 
A. Eliminate blighting influences, redevelop underutilized lands, and provide 


suitable sites for industrial, commercial or residential development. 
B. Achieve or accelerate development on sites that would not be developed 


without the use of Tax Incremental Financing. 
C. Increase employment opportunities in the City. 
D. Increase the tax base for the City and other taxing jurisdictions. 
E. Assists implementation of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
F. Provide affordable housing opportunities. 
G. Encourage unsubsidized private development in the City. 
 


3. TIF District Creation. 
 
A. TIF Districts will be created in accordance with the procedures and standards 


in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as such statute may be amended.  (See Appendix 
A - Department of Revenue TIF Creation Checklist).   


B. The City Council may, in individual cases, expand the process for creating a 
TIF District in such manner as it deems appropriate.   


 
4. TIF Project Approval.  All TIF projects must be approved by the City Council, 


following review and report by the Finance Committee.  The Finance Director shall 
provide a report to the Finance Committee and the City Council addressing the 
following issues, which shall be considered by the Finance Committee and City 
Council before approving any TIF project: 


 
A. Is the project authorized by the Project Plan for the TIF District? 







B. Does the project serve one or more of the City’s general goals for the use of 
TIF? 


C. Is Tax Incremental Financing feasible, in that the TIF District will support 
the level of TIF investment? 


D. Is the amount of Tax Increment Financing requested reasonably necessary to 
make the project financially viable? 


E. Should a development agreement be required, and what terms should be 
included in the agreement? 


F. Is more process (such as additional public hearings or a referendum) 
appropriate? 


G. Will the potential developer’s equity in the project exceed 10%? 
H. Will the ratio of equity to assistance be at least equal (1 X Equity = or > 


Assistance)? 
I. Such other factors as either the Finance Committee or the City Council deem 


appropriate. 
 


5. Permissive Referendum.  Before the City may issue bonds or otherwise borrow 
funds that will be payable over more than 10 years to fund a TIF project, the City 
Council must first adopt a resolution declaring its intent to borrow the funds.  If a 
number of electors of the city equal to at least 15% of the of the votes cast for 
governor at the last general election in the city sign and file a petition conforming 
to the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 8.40 with the city clerk requesting submission of 
the resolution, the City may not issue bonds or borrow funds for financing the TIF 
project without calling a special election to submit the question of bonding or 
borrowing to the city electors for their approval.  
 


6. Negotiations.  City staff and the city attorney will negotiate development 
agreements within the parameters established by the City Council, and subject to 
final approval by the City Council.   
 
It should be noted that “pay-as-you-go” is the preferred TIF financing mechanism 
of the City Council to help reduce the financial exposure of the City. Under this 
financing method the developer pays the upfront costs of the project. The City 
would then establish the criteria to fully or partially reimburse the developer using 
future tax increment. 
 


7. Suspension of Policy.  This policy shall be followed in all cases, except where the 
common council approves deviating from this policy by a vote of two-thirds of the 
members present. 
  
 
 
 







    







City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Authorizing and directing City staff to commence processing a request for Tax Incremental 
Financing (“TIF”) for the 51 West Neighborhood in accordance with the City’s adopted TIF Policy. 


  
Fiscal Impact: Reimbursable by the Developer 


 
File Number: R-19-2021


 
Date Introduced: 


 
February 9, 2021 


WHEREAS, RHD Properties, LLC (“Developer”) has submitted its concept for a 68.15-acre mixed-use 
Neighborhood in the northwest limits of the City of Stoughton; and 


WHEREAS, Developer has informed City staff that Developer is unable to develop the property without 
financial assistance in constructing certain public improvements, including installation of water main for 
looping purposes, upsizing of new water and wastewater main, and oversizing of storm water 
management infrastructure; and 


WHEREAS, providing financial assistance to facilitate the proposed 51 West Neighborhood 
development would require the creation of a TIF District, and Common Council approval of TIF 
funding; and   


WHEREAS, The creation of a mixed-used TIF District in this area could also provide potential funding 
for HWY 51 safety improvements, HWY 51 infrastructure improvements, park land and park and trail 
improvements; and 


WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted the City of Stoughton Policy for the Creation of Tax 
Incremental Finance Districts and the Approval of TIF Projects (the “Policy”), which explicitly states 
that “pay-as-you-go is the preferred TIF financing mechanism of the City to help reduce the financial 
exposure of the City.  


NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL HEREBY 
• Authorizes and directs City staff to commence processing the Developer’s request for TIF funding,


to prepare a report to the Common Council regarding the proposed use of TIF funding, and to
obtain negotiation parameters in accordance with the Policy.


• Directs City staff to begin preparing a boundary map and project plan for a future mixed-use TIF
district to be presented to the City Council for consideration.







Council Action: r1J Adopted □ Failed Vote 9- { 


L5/J Accept 


tv\ cij ~ w~ ti 
Mayoral Action: □ Veto vot-<d no 


~- -J. 
Date 


Council Action: D Override Vote 





		51 West TIF Request Memo

		51 West DRAFT TIF Application 2021_7_20

		51 West_Design_Exhibit_2021_03_29

		Timetable 6.9.21

		TIF 9 Timeline



		TIF Policy- Approved 8.25.20

		R-19-2021-Directing City Staff to Process a TIF Request for 51 West Neighborhood-signed







